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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited ("CR Gas"), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one
of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading
gas utilities group in China, which is principally engaged in
downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural
gas distribution and natural gas filling stations operation. Its
operations are strategically located in areas of China, which are
economically more developed and densely populated and areas
with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group's
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2014
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2014, CR Gas's
portfolio is consisted of 205 city gas projects in 22 provinces of
China including 13 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 13.3
billion cubic meters and 20.9 million customers.

In order to diversify energy resources and reduce reliance on
polluting energy sources such as coal and crude oil, the PRC
government has, in recent years, taken various measures to
promote the development and utilization of less polluting energy
sources. Natural gas is considered as a cleaner and superior
substitute for conventional energy sources such as coal and crude
oil. The PRC government has therefore been very supportive of the
development of the natural gas industry in order to meet its stated
goal of natural gas making 10% or more of the total Chinese energy
sources by 2020, up from the current 5% level.

CR Gas is well placed to take advantage of such a favorable
operating environment and aspires to become the most respectable
leader in the PRC's downstream city gas distribution sector by
continuously expanding through organic and external growths;
diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue of
excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean energy as
well as the caring, competent and efficient service to our customers;
offering growing and sustainable performance to shareholders;
providing extensive professional and personal development
opportunities to employees; and contributing to the protection and
improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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The Company, as the downstream city gas flagship of China Resources Group,
will continue to expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality

external acquisitions.
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OVERALL RESULTS

The downstream city gas industry in China experienced a challenging
year during 2014 with gas demand softening after another round of
increase of city-gate gas price in September 2014 following the last
price hike in July 2013. This coupled with the significant drop in price
of oil and related products during the last quarter of 2014, resulting in
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Chairman’s Statement

reduction of price competitiveness of gas and caused the demand for
gas to slow down. This is aggravated by the slow down in industrial
activity and hence demand for gas by industrial users, as reflected by
the relatively weak Chinese economy which registered a lower 7.4% GDP
growth rate compared to 7.7% in 2013. The overall 2014 gas volume
demand growth in China was only 5.6%, significantly down from the
12.9% registered in 2013.

Despite these challenging environment, the Group’s gross gas sales
volume increased by 10% and connected customers increased by
13%. The Group’s city gas distribution business in China continued to
contribute significant profit and cash inflow to the Group. The Group has
become one of the largest city gas distributors in the PRC with gross
annual gas sales volume of 13.3 billion cubic meters and 20.9 million
customers.

FAVOURABLE DOWNSTREAM NATURAL GAS
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The on-going economic growth and urbanisation in China have continued
to increase the demand for energy in China. In order to diversify energy
base and reduce reliance on more polluting energy sources such as
coal and crude oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken
concrete measures to promote the development and utilisation of less
polluting energy sources. Natural gas is considered an effective and
cleaner substitute for conventional energy sources such as coal and
crude oil. The PRC government has therefore been very supportive of
the development of the natural gas industry in China.

EBRRERBRAT - —F—MFFR] 3



FERE
Chairman’s Statement

FERE RARGEREEEENT S
BRIERBERKE - REEEGHQAIHER
RS (ZE—WEANA) RZE—
=F RARETFEEZBRREELEN
51%AT - BIERBIFR T8 E23.7% °

RIEBRARNME [ARFE] EBE
PEIBTX R TEK  BRARBHER
AR X B ER - REPER [F
RRB]EB_HR=H [IKAR&]E
B (HRFELENA)IEEENEE)
UETMAEER] RAREEBEDEK -
[ARRE EEMY REHEHER
LA R R B B E MR (L R A RE K
WIEEEBERZP - EEEREARE
WRRERHEBYRKRERMEETEE
MARRERAEFLEETT - —BE
B 2EEBBEASETEEN/RES
BIR AR (e S L IR B — 15 o

—TOF BRERMREZEE ([H
RERE]) EH T _TFPERER
SREFEETIES,600(8L 5K - |- T — [
FE1,790B L T KERI01% - —F=F
F o RR G T BB RER10%3 A £
i B A1 /35% ° 20 E XAt - —F— K
BERETER  AMAKBEREF BT
EHRBARNEEEARARSERZHEE
REMmMEFT RN RMEEERR A& - K
BWERETETEMEBBERE LB
ERWIAERF - L SEERS KA
RAERBNT R RFIBE - W HEERT
BTHRARTENARERERERH
@ o

The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy June 2014, for 2013, natural gas only accounted
for 5.1% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is far lower
than the international average of 23.7%.

To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas Transmission”
pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC government to
bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region to the coastal
regions of the PRC. Construction of the second and third phases of the
“West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia and the
“Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas rich Sichuan Province to coastal
regions as well as the “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas pipeline have been
completed. Construction of the “West to East Gas Transmission” Phase
4, Russia to North-East China gas pipeline as well as Liquefied Natural
Gas terminals in coastal cities of the PRC are actively in progress.
Natural gas price reform to close the price gap between imported and
local gas prices and eventually to reach market driven level are also
being implemented. Once realised, these measures are expected to
more than double the supply of natural gas in China in the foreseeable
future.

The National Development and Reform Committee (“NDRC”) has
announced in 2014 that the volume of gas demand is expected to
reach 360 billion cubic metres by 2020, an increase of 101% over the
179 billion cubic meters achieved in 2014; and gas will account for 10%
or more of the energy sources in China by then, up from the current
5% level. Despite the challenging environment in 2014 as noted above,
the Group is confident that the PRC Government’s long-term strategic
vision of heavily promoting the use of natural gas to diversify its energy
sources and combat pollution remains unchanged. All relevant policies
and measures will be constantly fine-tuned by NDRC to achieve this
goal. This will continue to boost the demand and availability of natural
gas in China and will continue to offer significant opportunity for future
growth in the downstream gas industry in China.
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas in the PRC
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Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy by PRC Government
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On 28th February, 2015, NDRC announced that with effect from 1st April,
2015, the ceiling city gate gas price for existing volume will increase by
RMBO0.04/m?® and that for incremental volume will reduce by RMBO0.44/
me. This effectively merges the gas prices of existing and incremental
gas volumes resulting in an overall net reduction in blended price of city
gate gas. This historic first reduction of city gate price since gas price
reform started in 2011, signals the unwavering objective of NDRC to
support the development of Chinese gas industry to ultimately achieve
market based gas price for the PRC. This measure to enhance the
price competitiveness of gas will ensure that the NDRC'’s target of gas
comprising about 10% or more of the total energy sources in China by
2020 is achievable. With the coming availability of abundant cheaper gas
globally and in China within the next 3 to 5 years, such market driven
approach of gas pricing will spike the continue demand for gas and
will be extremely positive for the entire downstream city gas industry.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for the continuous growth of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

CONTINUOUS EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
BUSINESS

During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of 7 city gas distribution
projects from China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. The
acquisition allows the Company to enter into the fast growing city gas
distribution business in China and provided the Group with a sound
foundation to tap into the burgeoning city gas distribution business in
the PRC by capturing the rapid increase in demand for natural gas in
China and leveraging China Resources Group’s strong presence and
brand name in China.

From 2009 to 2013, the Group acquired another 169 city gas projects.
These projects are mainly located in regions where there are rich natural
gas reserves and the economically more developed Eastern Board as
well as densely populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of
China. The Group also focuses on developing gas distribution projects
in areas where there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.
During 2014, the city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2013 continue
to grow organically in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China.
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During 2014, the Company continues to make new acquisitions from the
market and acquired 29 city gas projects. As at 31st December, 2014,
CR Gas portfolio includes 205 city gas projects and its footprint covers
22 Chinese provinces and includes 3 direct administrative municipalities,
13 provincial capitals and 70 prefecture level cities.

CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2014, the share price of the Company has increased by
5.89 times from HK$3.42 to HK$20.15 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 11.34 times from HK$3.95 billion to HK$44.81 billion.

From 2008-2014, the profit of the Group increased by 10.47 times from
HK$237 million to HK$2.48 billion, turnover increased by 9.61 times from
HK$2.99 billion to HK$28.72 billion and total assets increased by 15.5
times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$57.52 billion.

Based on Bloomberg'’s report, as at 31st December, 2014, the Company
was covered by 28 analyst reports which is the highest number among
all listed peers in Hong Kong.
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International rating agencies, Moody’s and Fitch, have during 2014
affirmed the Company’s investment grade ratings of Baal and BBB+
respectively, affirming the healthy state of the Company’s financial
position as well as its quality income stream from its Pan-China city gas
project portfolio.
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The yield on the Company’s 10 year US$750 million bond has consistently
been lower than those of comparable peers, indicating strong demand
of the bond and confidence in the Company'’s future by credit investors.

The Company has received many prestigious international and domestic
acknowledgements from respected publications and institutions in 2014.
Platts named us as the “Third Fastest Growing Energy Company” in Asia
for the second consecutive year in Top 250 Global Energy Company
Rankings. Our ranking continued its climb and advanced significantly in
2014 to position 218 from position 232 in 2013. Asia Newsweek Magazine
awarded the Company the “Best Results Performance Company” and the
“Green New Energy Enterprise” among Hong Kong listed companies.
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BENCHMARKING IN PURSUIT OF EXCELLENCE

The Group’s growth during 2008 to 2013 have been mainly driven by
acquisition. Going forward, the Group will focus more on improving the
operational efficiency and performance of its existing city gas projects,
as the number of available acquisition targets, especially bigger city
gas projects, have been reducing over the years. This shift in emphasis
to organic growth, coupled with the projected significant increase in
upstream gas supply over the next few years, is expected to deliver
majority of the gas sales volume growth over the forseeable future. In
this respect, the Group has continued to carry out the company-wide
Lean Management Campaign started in 2012 with the aim of utilising
minimum amount of resources to maximise value added product and
service delivery to customers in timely manners.

The Group also kicked off the company-wide Benchmarking Campaign in
2013 with the objective of learning and implementing the best practices
in the downstream city gas industry. This is to enable the Group to
measure up with the best and eventually outperform the peers.

The Benchmarking practice, which is continuing relentlessly throughout
the Group’s member companies, will integrate seamlessly with the Lean
Management measures, by comparing benchmarks, finding differences,
learning from others. These Benchmarking measures will complement
the Lean Management process and accelerate the materialisation of
the Company’s goal.
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HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Company launched the campaign of establishing the Integrity &
Honesty Culture across the Company and require every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( {#i{E&ME5) ). This is an on-going
exercise to instill an honesty based culture throughout the Group.

The Company have issued policies such as Regulation on Honesty
& Integrity ( (IEAHEEILE) ) and Rules for staff responsible for
Honesty & Integrity Culture ( (G{EAHEEE TIEHIE) ).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to enhance its standard corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate
Governance Report is set out on pages 40 to 52 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.
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Chairman’s Statement

Safety audits have been carried out continuously on all operating
member companies of the Group to ensure compliance with national
and local safety regulations.

Internal audit function covering both financial and operation audit has
been enhanced with new structure and increase in staff number. A total
of 57 audits have been carried out at the Group and regional levels
covering areas such financial, operation and project construction.
Various audit and risk management guidelines have been revised and
issued.

Internal legal due diligence and reviews have been carried out on over
200 investment proposals and major contracts during 2014. Investment
guidelines covering investments in private enterprises, LNG gas stations,
pre and post-investment evaluation process, have been revised, issued
and implemented.

To strengthen the institutionalisation of the legal and compliance system,
various guidelines on legal and compliance matters have been revised
and issued with follow-up trainings and education.

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 13.3 billion
m? of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 17.7 million tons of coal usage
and reduce approximately 40 million tons of carbon dioxide emissions
and 339,000 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. For example the Group member companies
participated in monetary donations and in kind to handicapped school
in Chifeng and flood victims in Shantou; subsidising gas connection fee
for single old folks in Xiangyang; etc.

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended the scheme
on 16th March, 2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating
the contribution of employees and providing incentives to existing
employees. Details of the Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report.
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TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2014, the Group have approximately 44,498
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values human
resources and recognizes the importance of attracting, training and
retaining quality staff for its continual success. In addition to the
“Gas Faculty” in China Resources University, the Group also set up 5
regional training centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern
and South-Western China. These centres are located in our regional
centres of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various
types of management and technical trainings are conducted through
the Group for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and
skills. Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise across financial, regulatory, commercial and
engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and maintain a satisfying
and rewarding working environment for employees and commit to their
training and professional development. During 2014, the Gas institution
of China Resources University designed 157 courses and provided
63 training programs for its entire workforce. The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, work experience and the
prevailing market wage level. Further, bonuses are granted to employees
and incentive awards are made to employees based on merit and
performance. The Group believes this will assist to attract and retain
quality staff and at the same time encourage the employees to give
their best performance.
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OUTLOOK

The Group’s key business units in Zhengzhou, Wuxi, Chengdu, Nanjing,
etc have continued to register good operating performances. Financial
performance of Tianjin Project is expected to turn around in 2015 and
profit contribution from Chongqging Project is expected to improve
steadily going forward.

The Group’s external acquisitions have started to turn around after hitting
a trough in 2013, having spent only HK$836 million for such purpose.
External acquisitions have significantly increased to HK$1,943 million
in 2014. The Group expects external acquisitions to accelerate further
in 2015.

The Group has embarked on various operational enhancement
measures to boost the quality of its organic growth, starting with “Lean
Management” practice in 2012 and “Bench-marking for Excellence”
measure in 2013. The Group continues in 2014 to focus intensely on
various Bench-marking measures to improve operation efficiencies
relentlessly.

The Group will ride on the continuing favourable industry fundamentals
and its experienced management team with strong execution record to
scale new heights via quality organic growth and external acquisitions.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2015
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EEEGEEIES EEAERROREFIUAERIFEMLAFER

The management team continuously enhances the operational efficiency and core
competency of the Group to achieve sustainable organic growth.

ReExE OPERATING RESULTS
REEZZT—NF+_A=+—HIF The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 29% to HK$28,717 million
& RNEEERE L E I N29%%287.17 and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of
EBATRBEERAGIRAEE ABEEF HK$2,482 million for the year ended 31st December, 2014, an increase
248288 T - REFRBIER15% WM of 15% over corresponding year. The operating profit from city gas
PR 5§ 35 T B 45 2 5 )3 7]1]25%;.;44 36 distribution business increased by 25% to HK$4,436 million and the cash
BBL  REEEBEENRESHS = generated from operations increased from HK$6,574 million in 2013 to
FH65.74EB LI E T —OF 9'966.76 HK$6,676 million in 2014.
BT -
TR D HEB AR B F R The revenue of city gas distribution operation is derived from recurring
ER—RERRERER  HE =T —NW gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively accounts
FUART8%K22% (ZF—=F : HHA for 78% and 22% of the 2014 revenue (2013: 77% and 23% respectively).

77%5%23%) °
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

Gross gas sales volume increased 10% from 12.09 billion m® to
13.32 billion m®. This is despite of Chongqging Project (22.5% interest
associate) registered a negative growth gas volume due to cessation of
supply to a big state-owned fertiliser plant which consumes about 400
million m® of gas annually as feedstock. This incident however did not
impact the bottom line of Chongqging Project materially as the gas was
traditionally supplied at an extremely low margin due to the subsidised
nature of the fertiliser industry. Moreover, the gas volume released can
be diverted to other customers in the future. Excluding the negative gas
sales volume growth of Chongging, the gross sale volume of the Group
would have increased by 16%.

The total connected residential customers increased 13% from 18.41
million to 20.74 million, despite the softening of the private residential
property market in 2014. This was mainly because the number of public
housing units increased significantly in China under the government’s
policy to cushion the impact of the soft private property sector. The
increase in the retrofitting of old households with new gas connections
also helped to mitigate against the slowdown in the private residential
property market.

Tianjin Project (49% interest jointly-controlled enterprise) recorded a
loss of HK$92 million during the first half of 2014, the Group’s share was
HK$45 million. The losses were mainly due to margin erosion resulting
from inability to fully pass through the city-gate price increase of July
2013 and the procurement of higher cost LNG to supplement gas supply
during the previous winter period. During the second half of 2014, Tianjin
Project has not only fully passed through the new September 2014 city-
gate price increase but also managed to increase more to wipe off the
dollar margin erosion suffered in the July 2013 price hike. In addition,
the recent winter procurement cost of LNG have been managed to
lower level due to lower LNG volume requirement and lower price
than previous winter. Thus for the second half of 2014, Tianjin Project
registered a profit of HK$3 million, a significant improvement compared

EBRREREBRAT - — T NFFR 15
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to a loss of HK$92 million for the first half of 2014. The Group’s share of
the loss decelerated during the second half of 2014 and consequently
limited to HK$44 million for entire 2014. Performance of Tianjin Project
is expected to continue to improve in 2015.

New Investments

The Group has made or committed to make total investment of RMB1,554
million in 29 city gas distribution and related projects in the PRC (2013:
investment of RMB643 million in 27 projects). Most of these projects are
either wholly-owned or majority-owned by the Group.

In addition, as at 31st December 2014, the Board has approved another
24 proposed city gas distribution and related projects with proposed
investments of RMB675 million.

The above “Investments”, comprising investments made and proposed
of RMB2,229 million, cover 53 projects in 20 provinces.

The Group has been active in seeking business opportunities to expand
its core business of downstream city gas operation in the PRC over the
recent years. Its existing city gas projects are strategically located in
various provinces in the PRC. The Investments are part of the on-going
expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry in the foreseeable future.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

The Investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 17 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending on
their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that the
Investments create synergy with the Group’s existing gas operation,
thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as enhance and
sustain its earning capabilities. After the completion of all the above
outstanding Investments, the number of city gas distribution and related
projects of the Group in China will increase to 229.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which
are essential for making decisions on future investments.

Gas Price Revision and Pass-through

As a continuation of the gas price reform to stimulate the increase in
gas supply from both local and imported sources, NDRC announced
an upward revision of city gate price for non-residential customers with
effect from 1st September, 2014.

Like previous past increases, the price increase has spurred the
increase in gas supply and hence is overall positive for the downstream
gas industry.

Except for a few projects where local governmental approvals are still
pending, the Group has been able to successfully pass through the price
increase in 98% of affected non-residential gas volume with slight dollar
margin reduction.
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[EER | URSEEMNRRK “BENCHMARKING” TO ENHANCE
LHRE D OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY & CORE
COMPETENCY
[2ER] 2 —EKE & EBniERERIE “Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one's business processes
BREFASKEEEEETLIRMBRE - K and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
EECEFAEMAEBBIIHITRARER Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
BESEERE - [2EE]| ERBEEEHE business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
WK ERRIMEETT  WEHRREZEITEIN benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external best
MEREERELHEZ - practices of the industry.
HITTE2ER] REHIMREBERERTAH Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
BEREAMBERASE - RAEGEZH MR CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
EE O OEREERERRENBBAGS model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
KAETTFEE— AR RIALENE also one crucial approaches taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
LR - goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be, create a road map for change
and generate the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary
to effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of
cost reductions and performance improvements. During the year 2014,
all member companies were required to not only sign “Benchmarking
Responsibility Contracts” containing 82 benchmarking criteria with
head office, but also to implement those targets as their daily working
standards. This ongoing campaign has led to many satisfying results last
year. For example, the average period needed to install gas connection
to commercial & industrial customers was further reduced from 54 days
to 42 days. Also the average gas leakage rate has decreased further to
2.73%, lower than the industrial average of 5%.
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CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group originally set up 10 Regional Centres to decentralise the
management of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects
across China. Each Regional Centre is responsible for the day to day
operation of several cities within their respective regions. This enhances
the operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond
faster to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.
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In 2014, due to the continuously increasing number of city gas projects,
the Group extended the Regional Centres to 17 Regional Centers,
covering 205 projects.

The Group’s three Gas pipeline Design and Construction Centers
in Nanjing, Chengdu and Zhengzhou were grouped together as the
18th Regional Center under the new structure. The centralisation of
the Group’s design and construction activities will further enhance
standardisation of pipeline construction and central procurements
thereby improving further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAM-LINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects with the issue and
implementation of new or revised guidelines covering various categories
of projects and quality control measures. With the help of centralized
procurement IT system, most of our purchase materials have been
centralized, representing 78% of total material procurement expenditure
up to the end of 2014, thereby reducing procurement costs significantly.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development. During 2014,
the Gas institution of China Resources University designed 157 courses
and provided 63 training programs for the entire workforce.

With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the significant
increase in operation size of the Group in recent years, information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralized cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralized procurement and customer
service are continuously being rolled out across various levels of the
Group’s operation.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, 11 guidelines on
Customer Service have been issued and Customer Service Management
System has been introduced to 18 member companies as pilot project.
Being the market leader in customer satisfaction in the residential
segment, we listen to customers’ opinions and dedicate our efforts to
provide quality services and safe products to our current and future
customers.

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly reduced
the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation rationalization
and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax exposure and speed
of tax setoffs and refunds.
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SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in the Group’s natural gas
related facilities which may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, we have fully complied with the
relevant local and national environmental protection regulations and
licensing requirement.

To improve our safety standard, the Group implemented a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns involving
23,809 persons; closely monitored safety performance by conducting
regular safety inspection of gas stations, branch pipelines, customer
pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances; carried out safety related
trainings and seminars in regional centers and hired more than 500
state certified safety technicians. In 2014, the Group made great
achievements in many pipeline network KPI indeces. For example, the
pipeline leakage self-inspection rate has been enhanced by 26% and
the network third party damage index has been reduced 29%.

The Group place emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are
held for relevant staff. For end users, thorough explanations of safety
procedures are given and regular seminars as well as distribution of
brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI SHANBO
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2015
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MEREE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g,
—E—MEF —T—=F ORd)
Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December 2014 2013 (Decrease)
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
e Turnover 28,717,025 22,288,027 29%
EF Gross profit 8,715,897 7,622,119 14%
eaia ) (N BB A R Profit from operations
EEEERBENTIEE) (Before Finance Cost and
Share of JV & associates results) 4,435,929 3,536,092 25%
HA P ) Profit for the period 3,350,859 2,823,754 19%
RRARRAEFEE AR F Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 2,481,628 2,160,945 15%
KEEBEENRE Cash generated from operations 6,676,465 6,573,664 2%
SEEEFSIR 758 (Fi2) Net cash from operating activities
(after tax payments) 5,463,638 5,671,241 (4)%
BREABNM BT Basic EPS(™" (HK$) 1.14 1.00 14%
EURAFELE - Gk GBI Interim dividend paid per share
(HK cents) 5 2 150%
BIRKRHE - iR OB) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 20 20 0%
2EIRE - & (GBI Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 25 22 14%
(1) BTREXRAEFIZS TR INEF S (1) Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average number
TE o of issued share.
1
—ZT-F —T—=F ORd)
Increase/
WN+=-—A=+—H As at 31st December 2014 2013 (Decrease)
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERE Total assets 57,517,037 50,481,791 14%
RITEGERRS Bank balances and cash 9,207,507 9,584,178 1%
RITMEREEBE Total bank and note borrowings 14,929,154 13,874,279 8%
BB HE Net borrowings 5,221,647 4,290,101 22%
ARATRIRAFE AR Equity attributable to the
Company'’s equity holders 16,065,098 14,182,935 13%
eI Non-controlling interests 4,966,268 4,432,903 12%
N Y] Total equity 21,031,366 18,615,838 13%

EMARERARAT - —F— WEFR
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R=ZT—F R_ZT—=
+=ZH=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
As at As at
31 December 31 December
B Financial Indicators 2014 2013
EES Gross profit margin 30.4% 34.9%
F = Net profit margin 8.6% 9.7%
TREL & Current ratio 0.9x 1.0x
FEAREELERO Net Debt to equity ratio 32.5% 30.2%
EABELER Debt to capital ratio® 41.5% 42.7%
BEBRELEO Debt to assets ratio® 26.0% 27.5%
N E AR B HE® Return on weighted average equity® 15.4% 15.2%

(1) FEAAEHLXERTEEBREEFRESA

WA A A EAERR A L) o

(2 EAXABBULERERTRERESLEHAR

TRERERBRALERNLS -

(B) EEBBUERERTREEREEETAE

ERERLLS -

(4) MRTBEAGHE  EHRER10.0% (=

TPUF)  9.4% (ZT—=4F) -
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Q)]

Net Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net bank and note borrowings to
shareholders’ equity.

Debt/capital gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to
total bank borrowings and total equity.

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to total

If merger reserve is excluded, return was 10.0%(2014), 9.4%(2013).
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EBBEE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
RIE-ImF RZZT—=F
+t=ZA=t+-H +ZR=1+—H
As at As at g CRd) /%
EERR Operational Performance 31 December 2014 31 December 2013 Change/%
HE¥E Number of projects 205 176 29
“BHEgE (ABLAXK) Gross Gas Sale Volume (million m?3) 13,323 12,091 10.2%
ERAP Residential 3,467 3,023 14.7%
IHERFP Commercial & Industrial (“C&l") 8,235 7,567 8.8%
piliE=Nns Gas station 1,617 1,397 15.8%
RER Bottled gas 4 104 (96.2%)
ERAFRMRIEA Connected Customers and
Gas Stations
ERAP Residential 20,738,125 18,408,900 2,329,225
THERP Commercial & Industrial 142,172 128,002 14,170
&I (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 279(194/55/30) 192(156/27/9) 87(38/28/21)
THHERE BAE S ER Average Tariff/Cost/Gross Margin
(AR¥BIYFXK) (RMB per m?) 2.91/2.24/0.67 2.75/2.04/0.71 0.16/0.20/(0.04)
ERAF Residential 2.16/1.99/0.17 2.17/1.92/0.25  (0.01)/0.07/(0.08)
THELREF Commercial & Industrial 2.99/2.27/0.72 274/1.97/0.77  0.25/0.30/(0.05)
PINE=R Gas station 3.62/2.55/1.07 3.55/2.46/1.09  0.07/0.09/(0.02)
FHYERE Average Gross Profit Margin 22.2% 25.8% (3.6%)pt
BERREF Residential 7.8% 11.5% (3.7%)pt
IHERFP Commercial & Industrial 23.0% 28.2% (5.2%)pt
JiiE=8" Gas station 29.5% 30.6% (1.1%)pt
(CNG/LNG/L-CNG) (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) (30.1%/19.6%/21.8%) (31.7%/21.5%/26.3%)
FHYEREBRRA Average Residential Connection Fee
(AE#) (RMB) 3,160 3,250 (90)
ITHE£AFCEBERMHRFE Installed Designed Capacity for
(L5HKEH) C&l Customers (m® per day) 47,431,293 40,308,000 7,123,293
/A% IUtilization Rate 47.6% 521% (4.5%)pt
BRAFBEX Penetration Rate of Residential
Household 41.5% 42.8% (1.3%)pt
ERRE (RE) Total Length of Pipeline (km) 98,512 85,140 13,372
ERRRBRAERAT - —T—WEFH
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2014 were driven by both organic and acquisition
growths. The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$28,717
million (2013: HK$22,288 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$3,351 million (2013: HK$2,824
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$2,481 million (2013: HK$2,161 million).

Turnover

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended
31st December, 2014 amounted to HK$28,717 million, an increase of
29% over that of 2013. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
gas sales volume by 10% from 12.09 billion m® to 13.32 billion m® and
the increase in connection fee income by 22% from HK$5,124 million to
HK$6,236 million. The increase in gas sales and connection fee income
were in turn driven by the following factors:

(1) 18% increase in the daily installed capacity for commercial &
industrial (*C&I”) customers from 40.31 million m® to 47.43 million

m3.

(2) 13% increase in the number of connected households from 18.41
million to 20.74 million.

Gross Margin

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 30.4% for 2014, which was 3.8 points lower than the 34.2%
for 2013. This was because the gross margin of gas sales reduced from
25.8% to 22.2% and the gross margin of connection fee decreased
from 62.2% to 59.8% due to changes in city mix resulting in a reduction
in average connection fee per household from RMB3,250 in 2013 to
RMB3,160 in 2014. The lower overall gas sales margin was mainly due
to lower margin achieved in sales to industrial customers arising from
slight dollar margin erosion during gas price hikes and the increase in
residential sales volume which are of lower gross margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, costs and expenses

Other income increased by HK$397 million mainly due to increase in
interest income of HK$114 million arising from increasing cash pool
deposits placed in banks, increase in sale of household gas equipment
and related installation fee as well as pipeline construction income
totalling HK$184 million.

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution and general
and administration expenses in 2014 were mainly due to numerous new
projects acquired in 2013 and 2014, these recently acquired projects
need time to attain higher operating efficiency. The main increases
were staff costs and pipelines and related assets depreciation which
increased by HK$472 million and HK$264 million respectively. As a
percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses was lower
at 9.5% for 2014 compared to the 10.6% for 2013. The general and
administration expenses was also lower at 8.6% in 2014 compared to
10.0% in 2013.

Finance cost increased by HK$13 million because of net increase of
additional bank loans as well as the increase in floating interest rates
on bank loans.

There was an increase of HK$57 million or 8% contribution from joint
ventures during the year compared to previous year. The increase could
have been higher if not for the negative contribution of HK$44 million
(2013: HK$35 million) from Tianjin Project for reasons as noted above.

There was an increase of HK$5 million or 5% contribution from associates
during the year compared to previous year. The increase could have
been higher if not for the reduced contribution from Chongging Project
by HK$12 million.

Taxation increased significantly by HK$422 million to HK$1,409 million,
representing 29.5% of profit before taxation. This is mainly due to PRC
taxation expenses related to internal group restructuring and withholding
tax on payments of offshore dividends, which were HK$32 million and
HK$206 million respectively.
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow of HK$5,464 million and free operating
cash flow of HK$1,777 million in 2014 before external acquisition
expenditure. The Group recorded a cash balance of HK$9,708 million
at the end of 2014. The Group has continued to leverage on its strong
balance sheet to raise low cost finance during 2014 and has a total
bank loans and senior notes of HK$14,929 million outstanding as at 31st
December, 2014, with a gross debt to total asset ratio of 26%. The Group
maintains a very healthy balance sheet with low gross debt ratio, high
EBITDA to interest cover ratio of 11.6 times at 31st December, 2014.

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity of 15.4%
in 2014 (2013: 15.2%). The Group acquired 29 new projects in 2014
including 18 green field projects, taking the total number of green field
projects at 31 December 2014 to 38. The rates of returns are expected
to improve once all these newly acquired projects start to attain higher
operating efficiency and generate more returns in 2015 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2014, their contribution percentages
have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongaging, Tianjin,
Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Xiamen and Zibo. Over the next
few years, the percentage contribution from all projects are expected to
gradually become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening
of the Group’s earning base will insure the Group from relying heavily
on any single city gas project.

The top 10 gas sales volume contributors accounted for 61% of the
total gross gas sales volume of the Group. The top 10 profit contributors
accounted for 54% of the Group’s net profit before corporate expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted to
HK$5,464 million (2013: HK$5,671 million), the reduction was due to
higher PRC Enterprise Income Tax Paid by HK$310 million in 2014.

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$1.9 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$3.7 billion in
upgrading of its continuing city gas distribution business (2013: HK$3.9
billion). The above required funding was financed by the operating cash
flow, bank borrowings and cash on hand of the Group. As at year end,
the Group’s free cash on hand was HK$9.7 billion (2013: HK$9.6 billion).
Among the cash balance 4% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
93% in Renminbi and 3% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total bank and note borrowings of HK$14.9 billion (2013:
HK$13.9 billion). 22% (2013: 6%) of the borrowings is considered as
current liabilities and repayable within one year, the remaining are
repayable in two to eight years. Renminbi, Japanese, Hong Kong dollar
and US dollar denominated borrowings accounted for 4%, 1%, 57%
and 38% of the total borrowings respectively (2013: 2%, 1%, 56% and
41%). 59% (2013: 57%) of borrowings are interest bearing bank loans
on floating rate terms and 41% (2013: 43%) are interest bearing bank
loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$9.7 billion as at the year end.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as total
bank and note borrowings over total assets, was 26% (2013: 28%). The
EBITDA to interest cover ratio was at the healthy level of 11.6 times. The
financial position and liquidity of the Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$8.5 billion (2013: HK$9.3
billion) term loan facilities with maturities from 2015 to 2016. The facilities
are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year,
100% (2013: 84%) of the facilities has been drawn down.
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Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group
has no other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity
management and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has
managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from
banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2014, bank deposits of HK$66 million were
pledged as securities for trade payable to suppliers of natural gas
and certain property, plant and equipment and trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$63 million were pledged to secure bank
borrowings.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$158 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$2,241 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2014, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in Euro.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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AZE{E5%4E Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 1st June, 2012. He is
also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination Committee and a member of
the Investment Committee. He was appointed as a Director and the General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2007.
He is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. Wang joined China Resources Petrochems (Group)
Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its Director and Deputy General
Manager. He has over 25 years of corporate management experience in the
area of petroleum and related products trading and distribution and holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China
University of Petroleum and a Master of Business Administration Degree from
the University of Texas, USA.

Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. He is currently the Assistant General Manager of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Shi joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director of
China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited and
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, and Vice Chairman
and General Manager of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was the
Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010. He was
previously the Audit Director and Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the
General Manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. Shi holds a Master’'s Degree in Economics from Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics.
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E#W %L Mr. Ge Bin
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E R %% Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Mr. Ge Bin, aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
market development and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai,
Jiangsu, Fujian, Hunan, Hubei etc.. Mr. Ge joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and
held former positions as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General
Manager, Senior Vice President. Mr. Ge holds a Master's Degree in
Engineering from Nanjing University of Technology, and holds a senior
economist qualification.

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001. He is
also the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the
Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
members of the national accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Southern Queensland, Australia. He has more than 30
years of diverse range of experience in professional accounting practice
as well as senior financial positions in various industries straddling
countries in Southeast Asia, Hong Kong and the PRC.
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FHTES Non-executive Directors

#H X R %4 Mr. Du Wenmin 3 £ £ Mr. Wei Bin

HXREE T+ @ R-TTN\EF=] Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive director of
EZEARRBIIERNTES  BHRALLRT the Company in March 2008, and is also a member of the Remuneration
SMEBENE c FR_ZTTLFNAEZ Committee of the Company. He is a non-executive director of China
ERERBEMWERARFNTES R _F Resources Land Limited in August 2007, a non-executive director of
SHENAEZEREBHAEGRATER China Resources Enterprise, Limited in September 2007, a non-executive
ﬁ§$ RZZEZNENARZERERK director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited in August 2008, and
FRERERACIERTES - RR_T—F a non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Company
FrAEZETAERENERERATIER Limited in July 2010. These companies are listed on the Main Board of
TEE ZERFREBHMARIMARA the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Du is the Deputy General
AIERLEM o HHEERER (£B) BARAA Manager and Chief Human Resources Officer of China Resources
BlEEERERFANERE - LELT AT (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du is also the Director of China
BEBRNFZES o LB ERFY Resources National Corporation. Mr. Du is a director of China Resources
BERG EM2ER=NBERNERA Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shenzhen
Al AR LBBAZZA Lo EHEE Stock Exchange, and China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical
BEROBRARIMNES - L EGIEEE Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Du was
BaEE (R ARARESQKIEREH previously the Managing Director of China Resources Construction
£E) BRARIETAE - HEERFHEER (Holdings) Limited and the Internal Audit Director of China Resources
%ﬁHJﬁ?LI%%ﬁ%F@iﬁu(’ R — A (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Du obtained a Master’'s Degree in
NAFIMAER (£8) BRA Business and Administration from the University of San Francisco, USA.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

REE - W+Rp RZETN\F+—AH Mr. Wei Bin, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
BEZERRRNBFENTES  BAALRLNT Company in November 2008, and is also Chairman of the Investment
WEZEEEXF BR_ZT)\FN\ARZ Committee of the Company. He is a non-executive director of China

) RERATEHITES - B Resources Cement Holdings Limited in August 2008, a non-executive
*i fitﬁﬁgéﬁc%*:i?ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ director of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited in July
R -TETAEEE 2010, a non-executive director of China Resources Land Limited in October
/‘Eﬁiiﬂﬁiﬂfﬁ_ﬁ NEEITES - RR_Z 2010, a non-executive director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited in
—ZTF+—ABZEREHAXARARE November 2010. These companies are listed on the Main Board of the
WITESR  ZELREBHARSMER Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wei was appointed as a non-
RNAElERET - MEER_T—=F= A% executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. in March 2013, which is listed
ZEREBRTERNERRANIERITE on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
ZARINBABERZER AT ER Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He has been appointed the Chief Accountant,
MORYEHZZH LT - IR AEE (£E) Chief Financial Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
BRARESEE HEVIEE M2 and is the General Manager of its Finance Department. He is also a director
BS o A mﬁﬂifiﬁ/ékﬂ\\éﬁﬁx%ﬁﬁt?ﬁ of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan
ZEB=NEERM AR T KL SRR Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd, which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
BROBRAT - UARR EBFEAZSLE Exchange, and China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
M EREREERNHERARNES - which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor’s
FERATETEPERERABLEMN degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in China and a
TEEEASERMBBELEN  STESR Master’s degree in Finance from Jinan University in China, and is a Senior
FETAD S ARE RN N AR BT Accountant and a Senior Auditor in China. He is also a non-practicing
M EIENESE - BAEENRZTZT—F N member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wei
AEH (£8) ARAR - joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2001.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment Committee
of the Company. He is a non-executive director of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited and China Resources Enterprise, Limited in May
2012, and China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China
Resources Land Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chen was
appointed as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. in March
2013, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He is Chief Strategy
Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013
and the General Manager of Strategy Management Department since
October 2011. He is also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
and China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which
is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He has worked as Project
Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement Department and
Executive Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Company
Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from September 1993 to
March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of China Resources
Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October 2011 and a Director
of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to February 2006. Mr.
Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Architectural Management from the
Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a Master’s degree of Business
Administration from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007.
Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993.

Mr. Wang Yan, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company. He joined China Resources National Corporation in July
1994. He worked for China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company
Limited from 2000 to 2006. Mr. Wang was appointed as a director of China
Resources Gas Limited in November 2005. He was a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September
2007 to April 2012. He was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of Internal Audit Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in April 2012, and was appointed as the non-executive director of
China Resources Power Holdings Co. Ltd., China Resources Enterprise,
Ltd., China Resources Land Ltd. and China Resources Cement Holdings
Ltd. in August 2014. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics
from the Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of
Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration Degree
from the University of South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified
Accountant.
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Independent Non-executive

F#lz+ Ms. Yu Jian

3B %4 Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional appointments and
public duties, including Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal Panel, Member of
Probate Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working
Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2012) on proposed reform
of Trustee Ordinance, Cap 29. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England & Wales and Australia
respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as
a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and
full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners (STEP). Mr.
Wong has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 20 years. From 1984
to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong
Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’'s Degree in
Laws from the University of London of England.

Ms. Yu Jian, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of the
Company'’s Corporate Governance Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee. She actively involves in various bodies and associations, including
Standing Committee of the 5th Shenzhen CPPCC; Vice-President of the
China Association of Women Entrepreneurs; Executive Vice President and
Secretary General of the Shenzhen Federation of Entrepreneurs and Shenzhen
Entrepreneurs Association. Ms. Yu was previously the Chairman of Shenzhen
Water (Group) Co., Ltd, the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas Corporation
Limited and Vice-President of the China Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu
graduated from the Harbin University of Civil Engineering and Architecture
and is a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 28th December,
2012. Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience
in the fields of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation and
corporate management. He was formerly a partner of an international
accounting firm, and is the Chairman of MCL Financial Group Ltd, a
Hong Kong-based financial advisory and investment firm. He is currently
an Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited, Great China Holdings Limited, Haier Electronics
Group Co., Ltd, Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited, Media
Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset Management Limited
(which is the manager of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust, a
Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange), One Media Group Limited, Playmates Holdings
Limited, Sateri Holdings Limited and Synergis Holdings Limited, which
are Main Board listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 46, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. He is
a professor, doctoral supervisor and Head of Gas Engineering Research
Centre of the School of Mechanical and Energy Engineering, Tongji
University, performing research in the field of gas utilization, transmission/
distribution, and production. He is currently a member of Renewable Energy
Utilization in Buildings Sub-group of MOHURD (Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of People’s Republic of China), a member of
Shanghai Municipal Urban-Rural Development & Transportation Commission
Science and Technology Committee, a council member of China Gas
Association, a member of Gas Sub-society of China Civil Engineer Society.
He is currently member of editorial boards of some academic periodicals,
including “Gas and Heat”, “Building Energy Conservation”, “City Gas” etc.
Mr. Qin graduated from Tongji University and holds a Doctor’'s Degree in
Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 53, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is responsible for
operation and management of Greater Jiangsu Area and in charge of Greater
Anhui Area, and concurrently serves as the General Manager of Nanjing
Jiangning China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. She was the General Manager of
Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2013.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 48, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation, safety and information technology management. Mr.
Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry
Automation from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
(currently known as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master’s Degree
majoring in International Economics from the Soochow University, and
a Senior Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 40, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for the Finance Department and the Internal Audit Department. Ms. Cheng
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan
University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 57, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August
1985 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 49, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing Representative
Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree majoring in International
Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice as a lawyer
and an engineer. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in March 2000 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since March 2007.
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Mr. Yan Xiaojun, aged 41, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Greater Liaoning Area and concurrently
acts as the General Manager of Liaoning Area. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (BRM¥TERE AT from
1996 to 2003, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines
Deputy Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief
Engineer Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he
also served as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager
of Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yan
graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas
Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 49, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, assisting in operation
and management of Greater Sichuan and Greater Northwest Areas. He
has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September
2004, where he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had
served as a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (&
A& A R]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas
Co., Ltd. (B MR AR 2 7)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project
Manager and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. (&
TR E AR ATR]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 43, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for human
resources management and the Greater Guangdong Area. Mr. Shi holds
a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong
University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 53, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of the Greater Shandong and Jinji Area,
and concurrently serves as General Manager of the Greater Shandong
and Jinji Area as well as Vice Chairman and General Manager of Jining
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. He is currently a Committee Member
of the Gas Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China
Civil Engineering Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas
Company in 1984 and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985
to 1986. Mr. Chen served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an
Engineer of Jining Gas Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary
of the CPC Committee and Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas
Company from 2000 to 2005, and Secretary of CPC Committee and
General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2005 to 2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lu Hong, aged 44, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of the Greater Fujian Area, and concurrently
serves as General Manager of the Greater Fujian Area and General
Manager of Fuzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (It R&ZEFEHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (&1 R & # A2 Hf
ABR7AF]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member to
Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. ((REZAMRE A
&2 &]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of Yueyang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China Resources
Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General Manager of Fuzhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd.since 2009 and General Manager of Greater
Fujian Area since 2011.

Mr. Yang Zhangyi, aged 54, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December,2014, and he
also serves as the General Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources
Gas Limited. Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of
Xiamen China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Yang has
studied ldeological and Political Education in Nanjing Normal University
and Technology Economy and Management in Hohai University; he is
also a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Mr. Peng Junfu, aged 59, was appointed as Chief Engineer of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited and General Manager of Greater
Chengdu Area in March 2012, responsible for assisting the management
of the Greater Chengdu Area, and concurrently serves as a Vice
Chairman of Chengdu Gas Co., Ltd., an Executive Committee Member
of China Gas Association, a Vice Chairman of Sichuan Gas Association,
a member of Sichuan Gas Industry Expert Pool (P9)I| & A R1TEHRE)
and a Labour Model of Sichuan province. He served at various posts
in Chengdu Gas Corporation (XTI RA A E]) from 1980 to 2004,
including Vice Section Chief, Section Chief, Director of the Planning
Division, Director of Gas Resource Development Division, Director of
the Users Development Division, Manager of its Pipeline Branch, as
well as the Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Chengdu
Gas Corporation; he also served as Director, General Manager, Deputy
Secretary of CPC Committee and Legal Representative of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd., as well as a Member of Chengdu Municipal Senior Professional
Titles Accreditation Commission (Economic Disciplines) from 2004 to
2005; he also served as Director and General Manager of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd. From 2005 to 2012.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on
23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated in 2008, 2009, 2010,
2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively. The contents of the Handbook
include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for directors’
transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction by
relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the Audit,
Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees, disclosure of information, communication with shareholders,
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director and board diversity policy. All the mandatory provisions
under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook.
The Company has throughout the year complied with the mandatory
provisions of the Code except for the deviation from code provision
D.1.4 which is explained as follows:

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.
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THE BOARD

On 20th February, 2014, Mr. Ge Bin was appointed as Executive Director
and Vice Chairman.

On 13th August, 2014, Mr. Huang Daoguo retired as the Non-executive
Director and Mr. Wang Yan was appointed as the Non-executive Director
of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four Executive
Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 31 to 36 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

EBRREREBRAT - — T NFFR 41



it% \A_\:l'-

Corporate Governance Report

BB BE
EEEREE

MHE  ERERKE - RE
FNER &ﬁﬁﬂiz‘za
- B s BB AE.EE$151/]M’EZ‘“3@§$@

HZ&EE}\ETE% N

%}tt o AEEMAEE

BBE-

BEEgN-

—PUFEITES

§IJ%§$E@TIE|Ju”jf\a>

BEARBRHFTARBNER

JTE - REEMRE - ¢TGJ”E”§T : i?iﬂﬂlﬁ%

CEBER

BERIRARREREA

A - TRH

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement of
Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other major
operational, financial and risk management matters. Day-to-day operations
of the Group are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Board has held periodic meetings during 2014. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

Z3-RE Z5-Df Z3-BE Z3-I% Z3-Df Z3-B% Z3-IE Z3-D%
BH -B=tz8 by ZRt=A  EA=tCR tA=A JAV: 1z RIV: b g R g o
23rd January,  20th February, 13th March, 22nd May, 2nd July, dth August,  22nd August,  20th December,
Date 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
L 534 IBR%E IER%E IBRLE IBR%E TBREE IBRLE IER%E IBREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang
Megting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong
by £ Executive Directors
TEREE . Wang Chuandong | | | v | | v |
REfinE Mr. Shi Shanbo i 0 | i | | |
Bt (R=2-m& Mr. Ge Bin (appoinied on NA N/A | | | 0 | |
ZA-TREZR) 20th February, 2014)
IRk M. Ong Thiam Kin | | | | | | | |
F4782 Non-executive Directors
IXRRE Mr. Du Wenmin 0 | | | | 0 |
ks M. Wei Bin 0 0 | | 0 | | 0
EEEAE (R25-1F Mr. Huang Daoguo (retired | y | 0 0 0 N/A N/A
NA+ZBER) on 13th August, 2014)
RERE Mr. Chen Ying 0 i 0 0 i | i 0
TE4k (N-E-IF Mr. Wang Yan (appointed on N/A N/A NJA N/A NJA NJA | 0
NATZREZR) 13th August, 2014)
BIfunES Independent Non-executive
Directors
BB M. Wong Tak Shing | | | | 0 | 0 |
FHat Ms. Yu Jian 0 | 0 0 | 0 | |
fEERE Mr. Yu Hon To, David i | J | | | | 0
EHEns . Qin Chaoki | | | | | | | il

st (TRERNTXER)

Vo= W
0 = WE
NA = @A

Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):

Y = attended
0 = didn't attend
N/A = not applicable
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The Company has held one general meeting during 2014. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-OF
B HEA=+H
30th May,
Date 2014
=6 £ IEREE
Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong N
AEBELE Mr. Shi Shanbo v
Bk Mr. Ge Bin v
TAREL Mr. Ong Thiam Kin v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
MRS Mr. Du Wenmin o
PO ST Mr. Wei Bin o
HERLE Mr. Huang Daoguo o
PR IE 5 4 Mr. Chen Ying 0
BIYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
=SB LA Mr. Wong Tak Shing 0
TRzt Ms. Yu Jian N
BIEE S Mr. Yu Hon To, David N
ESiE Sk Mr. Qin Chaokui 0

EEgMESTILER
ARAR-B-=FN\A-+=BRAEF
ERASTILEE - HEE HEERAH
T UL B I 2 A 5 B B A R A A
TR -

BERME

AR EEEEREMHNZ T RERE
FEENBETLR - —HELZTIENES
EREEABTRNE  HRELITELR
B MRIREMHENESSNE - XA
AR - ZETRBRETEESHNEE
SHRETIAERE - YR AEBER TREE
BV - EFEMERENREETSERE
YRR B R AR Bk F M E -

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Female Z1£: 1

Male S1£: 11

i3]
Gender

‘i
Ethnicity

FEHER
Age Group

BR5 4 H
Year of Service

M ERANBRTFREEFEAR

BT

ARREBAMAEERSEHEZTXHRIAR
B REHACHMBNREE - SUMEED
EEHUBRE LT RRERNEE RER
BEHES - AR LR REMEREER
EEMERWBBEEFTERETES - U
ERAEREMRESRELSRFEEE AN
7 e

FR- 2RBEFHEZMREARANES
AR ERMERENEEE 2 B H XS
Fl - HEBREERNBMRMEE - ARF
BREISEENEVIEREM KL o

44

Note: the number in bracket represents the number of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
covering the Company’s business and the statutory and regulatory
updates. The Company has received the confirmations of and/or records
of the training from the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the decisions
made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day

management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, as
at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely, the
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees under the Board, with each performing different functions.

Audit Committee

On 13th August, 2014, Mr. Wang Yan, a Non-executive Director of the
Company was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company in place of Mr. Huang Daoguo.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Yu Hon To,
David (Chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Wang Yan. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;

o review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

. review the Company'’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been uploaded to
the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2014 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee has reviewed the financial statements and yearly results
announcement for 2013, and those for the half-yearly results and yearly
results for 2014. These include the review of the Group’s financial
and accounting policies and practices; the review of the continuing
connected transactions of the Company conducted in 2014; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company’s Internal
Audit Division.

The Audit Committee has held four meetings during 2014. Details of

N = — EE%ﬁEK@%°T
FESEKERER LIS individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
EE RE
Chairman Members
ITERE
BEES%E (R=ZT-—OF
(R=Z—0F NA+=H
MEERE EB/BEE NAT=HEME) BZE=E)
Mr. Yu Mr. Wong Mr. Huang Mr. Wang
Hon To, David Tak Shing Daoguo Yan
(retired on (appointed on
13th August, 13th August,
HE Date 2014) 2014)
—mmE=/A+H 10th March, 2014 \ N o N/A
—UFENAMA 4th August, 2014 \ N 0 N/A
—mENATNA 18th August, 2014 v \ N/A 0
—mE+=—A+/\H  18th December, 2014 v N N/A )
THMEES Remuneration Committee

FHEZEENETEMAEAE T RRTHNITE
%&%mgﬁAam%M&@ﬁﬁ B
BARRRIEL R - BEE 8 R b R ER4E
BETEl - URERTESLRAREEAEN

Mo hFeRAE -

FMEZE e MESEED LHEMIMARAE
NSEEY
RAFEHRAH  FMEZ R ShMBEILIEN

ﬁ§$fﬁ£%§rﬂé§§’ii (EfF)  mzEEELER
—HIFMITEE AR EAEMN -

R-ZT—mE %ﬁ@h‘@/\aa’fﬁuﬁﬁ%@a

@iﬁ*ﬁﬁéﬂiéﬁ’él&$ RIZENF+Z
A— B Wﬂﬁﬁﬁb”ri\ (JﬁAfjE TFE=R
+/\E£§§ DT) ,\EJTEAfg E

F+ A+ AR T&Ttt/ﬁzli GELEREREEN
H IR & 22 o

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.

During 2014, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the existing
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the Incentive
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 1st December, 2008 and
amended on 16th March, 2010. It has also reviewed and approved
cash awards under the Company’s Incentive Award Scheme on 10th
October, 2014.
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The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during 2014. Details
of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

*E I24=1
Chairman Members

EBBEE HRXREE MEELE
Mr. Wong Mr. Du Mr. Yu
B Date Tak Shing Wenmin Hon To, David
—E-ME+A+HE 10th October, 2014 N N v
REBEZZ—WF+-_A=+—HLtF For the year ended 31 December 2014, the remuneration of the members

B aREBABRBEE D 2HFHET of the senior management by band is set out below:

NN

AE
HMER (B) Remuneration band (HK$) Number of persons
1,000,001 0% 1,500,000/ 7T 1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1
1,500,001;8 7L E2,000,000/% 7T 1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1
2,000,001 C%2,500,000/% 7T 2,000,001 to 2,500,000 1
3,500,001 7052 4,000,000/% 7T 3,500,001 to 4,000,000 5
4,000,0017%7C£4,500,000/8 7T 4,000,001 to 4,500,000 2
4,500,0017% 725,000,000/ 7T 4,500,001 to 5,000,000 3

FHESFHe R ARRSHFALTZESF
B BRETRAMSEI6ZRE T IARK
B WHERI WK EN -

REZES
REREENIEREARTEETSRE
Nk - WHtERERNREALHEES
MEESRMAREBRE -

REZECRESBEED LHEBMR
NI S

RAFHAEY REZEEMMERTE
EEERELE (ER) RAEBEEUAR=
EWUFRTEFESE AL TRLL
NMERPAREFEEK -

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman) and
Mr. Shi Shanbo and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Ms. Yu Jian and Mr. Qin Chaokui.

EBRREREBRAT - — T NFFR 47



EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

BEERBEANGERERFBLRHARAN
XD CEERRBENTEESZ
BENER  ROBRENNERRKADE
B - RUESBANEANEEMAESRS
B RELZ8ERRTBREZEEAE X
BEERENEESKEZTIEEE - EFE
BEREHTREAEAR  RMEREE
WmkEY  EREESEERRREHE
& PEZIERES - REARANRAH
A BENEEENT —ERRAGLRR
BEKRE (WER) ARREMNER -

I8 I (5

RZZE—NF  REZEGERIIREER
EREREREANEZTERAZBENA
B o

REZEEN T NOFRTMAEHE T
KRBT E AR WERHF R -

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2014, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held two meetings during 2014. Details of
the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Edl=3 o4=]
Chairman Members
TEREE AEEEE EBBRE Falzt REEEE
Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Mr. Wong Tak Ms. Yu Jian Mr. Qin
= Date Chuandong Shanbo Shing Chaokui
—Z—F = A=+ H 20th February, 2014 V 0 V N 0
—ZT-MFENAMA  4th August, 2014 Vv Vv Vv 0 N

REZES
KHEAZBENTEREABEESENT
3,000,000 JT 28,000,000 7T Z % &
BREESTEREZEMPIEAELIRE
R (PIERESLE#E) -

REZESREEEED LHADFHEL -

RAFRAHY  REZBGH BHTES
FEMEE  WEFERTESTELE (X
) RREREAR R BUIRTEER
SR EANK -

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, two Non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Wei Bin (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Ying,
and one Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak
Shing.
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Corporate Governance Report

During 2014, the Investment Committee passed 11 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee dated 18th February, 2014,
25th February, 2014, 3rd March, 2014, 3rd April, 2014, 18th July, 2014,
6th October, 2014, 16th October, 2014, 24th November, 2014, 25th
December, 2014 and 29th December, 2014, respectively to review and
approve 18 investment proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Ms. Yu
Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui, and two
Executive Directors namely Mr. Shi Shanbo and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

A meeting was held on 20th February, 2014 by the Corporate
Governance Committee to review the Company's compliance with the
Code during the year 2013.

Saved for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective
internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering
all material controls, including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management system.

The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the Company’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions, and their training programmes
and budget.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to review the
effectiveness of such internal control system in operation. The Division
regularly carries out internal audit and other related audit reviews and
reports its findings and suggestions for improvement on better internal
controls to the Audit Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit Committee for consideration and would form the basis for further
improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 71 to 72.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-mF

2014

FHT

P {4t AR 75 Services rendered HK$’000
FETARTS Audit services 8,831
IEBEETARTS R A R Non-audit services for: Interim results review 650
Bl ER : Tax compliance 35

BTG AR : Tax consulting services 25

= Total 6,202
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

EBMRRERERDOR - —Z—FFR 51



EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

HAFEE2FAREZE2FITAETHRARRK
ZXHHER  FEAR BN E2BARK
ZF: AEFAETLR (WABRJCRFIR
EHRRZEH) NGRTANBR (WRE
AEMERH) KGRI —B  BRXEEM
WERE - WA R IABEH AR BIAERE R X
ZRRIE o MR 2R A SR E i
MzX—BAFREAF RS  AIZEFH
ABERERREAER @ SIS TS BaR
REZBEXR °

BRREEREESNER

RBARRAFARIENBFERE - ARF]
ATHRERASEBEBRBRES &
REERERIZEEMALIEREEIUE
HIERZRIUEREHES - EEZAHDT
SHEBARRBRPERAE LEFH LR

REBARRFABMAAUEGHERTE  BRES
HRES - REBFUINZEAMALHATE
BRVERABRRAS LEREE B RIF
FPRBREZATEREEZEMBAR
ZATHEEZRZEABIEERELRR
Al e BRBANHMREL /LR BARER
FERAMERRRNBRERGNBANEH
HETERARGRITAHMCARL -

EREREFNFMEFAMNARRH
TEERETD °

MESERHER

MR ALBBIA TR IEH AR RN EAARE
Bz &R

®Er o FEEFBEEEREBFAE
1901-02%

{85 : (852) 2598 8228

EH : investor-relations @crgas.com.hk

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to Bye-law 113 of the Bye-Law of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 115 of the Bye-Law of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The details procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

Enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders can address their query in relation to any public information
of the Company by the following channels:

By Post:  Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

By fax: (852) 2598 8228

By email: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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Directors’ Report

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in Note 45 and Note
46 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2014
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 73 to 74.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 77 to 78 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2014, amounted to HK$9,243,107,000.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 20 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 5 HK cents per share paid in October 2014, total distribution for 2014
would thus be 25 HK cents per share (2013: 22 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 19th June, 2015
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 4th
June, 2015.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 26th May,
2015 to 29th May, 2015, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 29th May, 2015, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22nd May, 2015.
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Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 4th June, 2015 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 4th
June, 2015, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 3rd June, 2015.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$11,704,273.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group has made or committed to make total investment of RMB1,554
million in 29 city gas distribution and related projects in the PRC (2013:
investment of RMB643 million in 27 projects). Most of these projects are
either wholly-owned or majority-owned by the Group.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2014, the Board has approved another
24 proposed city gas distribution and related projects with proposed
investments of RMB675 million.

The above “Investments”, comprising investments made and proposed
of RMB2,229 million, cover 53 projects in 20 provinces.

The Group has been active in seeking business opportunities to expand
its core business of downstream city gas operation in the PRC over the
recent years. Its existing city gas projects are strategically located in
various provinces in the PRC. The Investments are part of the on-going
expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry in the foreseeable future.
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Directors’ Report

The Investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 17 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending on
their geographical locations. As such, the Directors consider that the
Investments create synergy with the Group’s existing gas operation,
thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as enhance and
sustain its earning capabilities. After the completion of all the above
outstanding Investments, the number of city gas distribution and related
projects of the Group in China will increase to 229.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 37 of the consolidated financial
statements.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2014 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 195 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
14 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 20 and Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2014, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for were less than
30% of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2014, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for were approximately
84% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 58% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong

Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin (appointed on 20th February, 2014)
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Huang Daoguo (retired on 13th August, 2014)
Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan (appointed on 13th August, 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the Company, Mr. Wang Yan shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election; pursuant to bye-law 110(A), Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr.
Ong Thiam Kin, Mr. Du Wenmin and Mr. Chen Ying shall retire from
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall
be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (to which the Company or its
subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary was a party)
subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director of
the Company is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2014, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) RAELFERTEERNER (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

Frit#Esm

BEAI

HREKRE BB EE Aggregate

EENE g4 Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’

TEREE EmEA A S 1,010,000 0.0454%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position

hEBEE EREAA 555} 50,000 0.0022%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Beneficial owner Long position

Bkt EREAA He 16,000 0.0007%
Mr. Ge Bin Beneficial owner Long position

ERBEE EnEBA e 250,000 0.0112%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position

MXEREE EmiB A S 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

BiE Note:
1. AR -_Z—NF+_A=+—8F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
RARAREBRIFEBREERATSE shares to the total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December,
MEBTROHWADL - 2014.
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(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated
corporation of the Company

Frit#Es

wEASH

FRHEKRE R EE Aggregate

EENA Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

TEREE e 600,000 0.0248%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

HXRESE we 100,000 0.0041%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

ITERE we 150,000 0.0062%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
BisE Notes:

1. WARZZ-NF+_A=+—HM 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEE L BB R AERERN TR BRI
FERIZHDBITRONBEDLL

2. EXMEENMERSEHESIUE
BEBAFDEA

(c) RALAMBEIEEBEHBRLT
(T#ErE]) ERTEBRRABER
7 RS

shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued shares of CRE
as at 31st December, 2014.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated
corporation of the Company

Frit#Em

wEASH

HFRRKRE BB E Aggregate

EERE Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEBRE HE 140,000 0.0024%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

HXRESE we 640,000 0.0110%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

REEE HE 500,000 0.0086%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B EE - Notes:

1. WARZZT-—HNF+-A=+—HHR 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEBEHETBRIEERNITRAE
BEEREH2HCHTRONED
A

2. EXMEENMERSBEHESUE
BEBAFNEA °

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL
as at 31st December, 2014.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) REQXAEBEEERELERBR
RE([EHEN]) ERTEBERRME
B IR AP R RE 2R

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),

an associated corporation of the Company

PR

BEEOL

HRRKE BB EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEELE we 500,000 0.0104%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREE iR 480,240 0.0100%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

TEXRE R 44,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position
st Notes:

1. WARZZT—NF+-—A=+—HH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEREHEBREAEROFRLE
HEERENZMECBHTRONED
L o

2. LtXHBRBENMAERARAESEAE
SHBAHNEE -

shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP

as at 31st December, 2014.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company

Frit s

BEEOL

HREKRR BB &8 Aggregate

BEEnR Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEEE e 280,000 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

BRIE S HE 230,000 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B EE Notes:

1. ARZZT-—NF+-A=+—HHR 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEBREBRF R EBEERK
RECBEITRMONANLL ©

2. LXHRBENMERETAEEIUR
BEBAFDFEA °

REEE
RIZZENF+-A—B  ARFRHB—IA
B EER e EEE S ((REBErE])  &
b ARBEHREATNEIEREL AR
RIBFT BRI EE@EHE - RE QBT
EA—FHAARFEE LB EEEE%HIA
BEEDRNAR ([RERXA]) st &
BRERADLME ERERBMARE
HEOBDLARUAEREBEMARTFE
ZHEENZETHATNADIL -

BETEEERT S TEENER BB
SEH AR - WIRE B R BB A S B R
BRNRBRBHEBREEREEEZES - I
HEINRRAFANRAFE I RARSRME
BEEENZ c RIFLESFIRANKLE - 125
FTEIE M A R TFAB - RIEER T
BIRHEREIMER D PR EBRBERHART
SRR B R ABB RS BIAAR
AR B B TIR AN H5% [20.5% AR

shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement as at
31st December, 2014.

2. All interest disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which selected
employees of the Group or investee companies (being any company in
which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable
equity interests and in calculating the percentage interest so attributed
(the “Investee Company”), the percentage interest held in the Investee
Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of
entity through which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.
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RIEERETERA - ARRBEEPER
BEBRBEETERAAAITEA ([Z5T
AD Bt STEABRTISE EARES
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R IEREERE EEXRSRNOIZER
B EBZERCTERE AL -
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RZZE—ZF=F+XE  AREEFTEE
A R RBEREE IR TR W IERE
Befn o AR A E) A & SRR AR 1) ’O TS R
B ZEREBOBZEABEERRE
B AR - RFEBALARFFHME
U E MRS REVERERR TR A 4
HE B B B R R MR -

RZZE—MF+A+TH  ERRFRHFHMES
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TEE) - XEAMKEBROOESHFE
wmr

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and
held by the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any
further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

On 10th October, 2014, upon the approvals of the Remuneration
Committee, the Company granted 1,905,100 award shares which vested
immediately. During the year, the Trustee disposed of these award
shares which generated a net proceeds of HK$36,903,690.52, and
distributed these to selected employees including 3 executive directors.
Details of the movement of the award shares held by the Trustee are
as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZETNFNALHEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RIE-—FTFERHELHE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RIE——FRENREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FREELEE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZZE—NF— A —HN&EH Balance as at 1st January, 2014 51,278,484
RIE—NFEREEEE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
R-ZE—NE+-A=+—HH&E Balance as at 31st December, 2014 49,373,384
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2014.
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LB ERERSHBERBE T —NF+ Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and
ATt -HILEFESRZZT-—HF+=A the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2014 or
=t—HEENERSEHRMROT as at 31st December, 2014 are summarized as follows:
HE
—T-mF
+-A=+—8
IHFE
For the year
ended
31st December,
2014
BEEWHR Sale and Purchase Agreement
RRARZZEMB LB LARARRNDER Purchase of natural gas for 5 years by a number of AR
RA(—RRPERIHBREELA - 2 subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas 584,346,0007T
RARATEEMEAT (NBREBMRE Limited* (11 78 X % 819 8 IR 2 7), a limited liability RMB584,346,000
BERAR (MR —_T—ZF+_-_AF—8%F company established in the PRC and is the substantial
) KEEBREERAR (R E— shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company namely,
TE+—AZT AT RREREER Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited (agreement
REBRAR (HBER-_Z—ZTF+-A—H entered on 1st December, 2010), Datong China Resources
RIN) c BENMEBEMARERAF (HERZZ Gas Co., Ltd (agreement entered on 29th November,
—ZEF+ZA+—HFY) RGHERRR 2010), Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.
BERAF (BER=_T—ZF+=-A—BF (agreement entered on 1st December, 2010), Huozhou
) MEBRR) RERAR - REBE - China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.* (agreement entered on

11th December, 2010) and Yangqu China Resources Gas
Co., Limited (agreement entered on 1st December, 2010)

respectively.
NZZT—F
+-A=+—8H
As at
31st December,
2014
B S ETR Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(iYa) AZZE—ZF+—A=1+=-H AQF (i)(a) On 22nd November, 2010, the Company AR
AU LEEN T —=FMNA=+ entered into an agreement and subsequently 447 ,462,0007T
=B NER DS NAEBERKREE on 23rd April, 2013 entered into a supplemental RMB447,462,000
HIRITRM AR AR ([EFEHET]) (— agreement in respect of placing of deposits
RS EN B TIRT) 27 with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.,
BERAHEAHEERNEE=-_S—N (“CR Bank”), a municipal bank headquartered
F+ZA=+—H1t - EERGHARA in Zhuhai, which effective from the date of the
A ([FEBRG]) FAEEBRITERE supplemental agreement until 31st December,
) o AREIERRRER (KE) AR 2014. China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC")
REAEBEROHOMNERR - has a controlling interest of CR Bank. China

Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
the Company’s controlling shareholder, is a
subsidiary of CRC.
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(i)(b) B& T HURIESN - AR AERRT
Z%%ﬁETTEEf&(&EDD HW{&E%E

(i)

B A IRTT R B AR SRR B R

RZT-—=F+=-A=+—H 4R
SLE P 5 SRS R BIR (R aE*ﬁ‘ﬁE
R ([EEER]D (ERROBERE
BoiEs) RT3 ek - AHEI2E (RRIFEHIR
RE—FER)  FHROBAERE
EERER ARFERRRER (£
E) ARARAERBRNHMEAR

ZERBE BB R ERE IR TE
REHETFEBE aﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁ’ﬂiﬁw
PRI FPrEM M E R E -

(if)

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of the use of
commercial banking services with CR Bank for 2
years (unless extended for a further period). On
19th December, 2014, the Company entered into
a supplemental agreement in respect of adjusting
the aggregate deposits amount and extending
the effective date to 31st December, 2015.

The interest on the deposits are based on the
same interest rate and on the same term and
conditions as apply to a similar deposit made by
any other customer of CR Bank, which rates are
determined by the Peoples’ Bank of China.

Other than deposit services, the Company utilised
commercial banking services and products
provided by CR Bank. The services and products
are similar to the commercial terms of services and
products offered by other banks in the PRC.

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the trust
services with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.,
(“CR Trust”), for 2 years (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR Trust.
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, the
Company’s controlling shareholder, is a subsidiary of
CRC.

The services are provided on normal commercial
terms and the fees are charged at a rate no less
favourable as apply to a similar service provided
to any other customers of CR Trust.

EBRREREBRA

N
300,000,0007T
RMB300,000,000

i
N/A

A T -EFR
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Framework Loan Agreements

(i)

(ii)

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the intra-group
lending between the Company (and any of its
subsidiaries but exclude entity established in the
PRC) and China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, any China Resources Group listed
company and any of their subsidiaries in respect
of Hong Kong, RMB or, United States dollars loan
for 3 years (unless extended for a further period).

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the intra-
group lending between any PRC established
subsidiary of the Company and CRC (and any
PRC established subsidiary of CRC) or a China
Resources Group listed company in respect of
RMB dollars loan for 3 years (unless extended for
a further period).

Name translated for reference purposes only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2014
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

RAEQXFNEE Long position in the Company
Y
BEEIL
BEHKE BHEE  Aggregate
BREEE 514 EEME Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest'
EHEE (MR) BR EmfiBA EHEAA e 1,407,828,991 63.30%
([EEEE 'f’*ﬁj) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas")?
25 (5E) BRAR? Et NI 37 DR e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited RGN A ER ARER 35 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
EERHBERAR ([EBKH]?  XEHRANER G5 e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"y?
mEEBERA ([FRER])? REH D AER REER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.® 24| A F)HI L3 o) 112,820,000 5.07%
Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and Management B#%#A A EniEn ag) 112,820,000 5.07%
Company? Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
B3 Notes:
1. HAR-_Z—NE+-/F=+—HMR#E 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the

BT REEIEARFA2HE HITERN
BN ©

total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2014.
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2. EHEEAMRRARAEERARDFIRAR
711,407,828,9910% fi% {9 % 14,470,0000%
Bt RS i - MR AR AE
B (EE) BRARNEZENB AR -
bt EH (KE) BRABERIEREAR
A)#91,422,298,9910% (% {5 7 FE B S -
= (£E) BMR7AFACRC Blueskyfy
2EMBAR - MEEHEBRNDEERE
B EERH D AREEBNZEMBER
Al At #H (£E) BRAAF - CRC
Bluesky * B A% (0 & 7 Bl B AR (ER
N2 R H91,422,298,991 0% B3 (5 P 1 A 1

%o

3. Capital Research and Management
CompanyAThe Capital Group
Companies, Inc.Hy & & K B 2 &) -
It * The Capital Group Companies, Inc.
AR AR A B #9112,820,0000% % 19
R

ERRRNBEBVNEE

RZZE—=F=ZRA=++R " AQ7 (A
BRA) BRERITS B —E8BETH
SFHEFFE K —IE3EETHIFHER
BMEF LA R  REFEFREHAEK
WREE  BREFEAREEHERE NHHF]
AR FEAEHEE -

RZZE—=FRAT=8 K07 (ERE
A 2 PSR ERT R —IR8IEB T3 F
HERRME R —IBSEBTHIFHERR
BRIV BEZ - 2 FEREEN R EEA
it BREWENBERBRE WAL
AR =2 ATBER -

RZE—=F+-A=-+=0 X278 (4
BERA) B—MRTH—B15EE T3
FHERRER LRE R - ZEREEY
BERELGE  BRSBEANAEBRER
RN ASENR = FE A RHEE -

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRCL. CRCL
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to
have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. So, The Capital Group Companies,
Inc. is deemed to have interest in 112,820,000 shares of the Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 27th March, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$300 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreements.

On 13th May, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$500 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreements.

On 23rd December, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility letter with a bank in relation to a HK$1,500 million 3-year term
loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of first drawdown.
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Directors’ Report

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31st December, 2014.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 9th March, 2015, the Group entered into a joint venture with Qingdao
Energy Group Limited, a state-owned enterprise established in Qingdao
Municipal People’s Government of the PRC. The Group will acquire
a 49% interest in the joint venture, Qingdao Energy Gas Limited, by
contributing to the proposed increase in its registered capital by an
amount of RMB613 million.
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The establishment of the joint venture will enable the Group to further
extend its coverage and footprint in the PRC, particularly in Qingdao city
which is one of the most economically developed cities in China with
annual GDP exceeding RMB800 billion. The demand for piped natural
gas in Qingdao city is expected to double from the current annual gas
volume of some 400 million cubic meters to some 800 million cubic
meters by 2020, thus offering tremendous growth prospect. The Group
has existing city gas operations in various cities in Shandong Province
such as Jinan, Jining, Zibo, etc. The joint venture will create synergy with
the Group’s existing gas operations, thereby will broaden the Group’s
revenue base as well as enhance and sustain its earning capabilities.

The Company considers the establishment of the joint venture would
enable it to team up with Qingdao Energy Group Limited to accelerate
gas infrastructure development and modernise gas distribution and
management in Qingdao city to improve economic efficiency and to tap
its vast potential in the future.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2015
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B B ET RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 194,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2014,
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26th March, 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE-T

ME+—A=+—BLFE

—E-IF —E—=F

2014 2013

Bt 3 FExT FAET

NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000

R Turnover 7 28,717,025 22,288,027
SHE A Cost of sales (20,001,128) (14,665,908)
EA Gross profit 8,715,897 7,622,119
E A Other income 915,164 518,445
HE RS HFAX Selling and distribution expenses (2,739,397) (2,373,282)
THAX Administrative expenses (2,455,735) (2,231,190)
4,435,929 3,536,092
B 75 A AN Finance costs 8 (536,954) (523,558)
BEEERRIFEE Share of results of joint ventures 755,508 698,426
FEIRESE N R ¥R Share of results of associates 105,213 99,901
B 75t BT e A Profit before taxation 9 4,759,696 3,810,861
$E Taxation 10 (1,408,837) (987,107)
F 75 A Profit for the year 3,350,859 2,823,754

FREMEERA Other comprehensive income
for the year
TEgEMHHEEER Exchange differences arising on
ZIHEEERENETE translation that will not be

reclassified to profit or loss (106,026) 635,630

FAZEBA B Total comprehensive income for the year 3,244,833 3,459,384
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

BE_ZT-NE+_A=+—HIFE

—2-NF —F=F
2014 2013
Bt 3 FExT FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
AT AT EEFERER : Profit for the year attributable to:
RNEHEB A Owners of the Company 2,481,628 2,160,945
e M Non-controlling interests 869,231 662,809
3,350,859 2,823,754
LATALEEFEA Total comprehensive income for
2HEIRALBEE - the year attributable to:
ARAFER A Owners of the Company 2,388,443 2,685,585
e R 2 Non-controlling interests 856,390 773,799
3,244,833 3,459,384
BT BIT
HK$ HK$
BRAF Earnings per share 13
HAR Basic 1.14 1.0
e Diluted TEHA N/A 1.0
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2014 AT —WF+_A=+—H
—E-IF —E—=F
2014 2013
Bt 3 FHET FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
EMBEE Non-current assets
M HWE K&E Property, plant and equipment 14 21,511,872 18,527,861
YR FE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,298,818 1,132,220
REME Investment properties 16 45,757 11,140
REEQRIER Interests in joint ventures 17 9,559,564 8,853,031
REEE QAR Interests in associates 18 1,990,259 1,956,465
Al ERE Available-for-sale investments 19 52,292 21,383
EES Goodwill 20 1,042,033 409,952
Rk Operating rights 21 790,569 758,244
BERETHIEE = Deferred tax assets 33 127,738 98,630
RIS Deposits for operating rights 52,171 77,168
FERNBAORIBER S Deposits for prepaid lease payments 67,578 77,257
BEME  BERREES Deposits for property, plant and
equipment 438,397 189,497
KBRS Deposits for investments 76,058 149,756
37,053,106 32,262,604
mENE E Current assets
T8 Inventories 22 639,576 791,955
U B 5 B 70 K E Aih & UL X Trade and other receivables 23 6,997,804 6,665,784
BWERFEA#ITIEIE Amounts due from customers for
contract works 24 1,590,712 903,006
YR L A Prepaid lease payments 15 60,119 55,115
A R A AR 2 B3R Loan to an intermediate holding
company 25 694,532 -
RBERMBARIREZER Loan to a fellow subsidiary 25 707,695 =
2IIRERITIE R Pledged bank deposits 26 65,986 219,149
RITHEBRIR® Bank balances and cash
-BekBeFE — Cash and cash equivalents 27(a) 7,552,519 6,722,425
— H 77K — Other deposits 27(b) 2,154,988 2,861,753
20,463,931 18,219,187
mEBARE Current liabilities
FERHE 5 BR 20 K2 B fih FE 1~ 3K Trade and other payables 28 12,871,276 11,470,251
EREFALHIRHE Amounts due to customers for
contract works 24 7,152,688 5,218,147
PGSRk Government grants 29 32,394 12,154
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 3,296,513 858,749
FE BT Taxation payable 431,268 396,520
23,784,139 17,955,821
wE (AE) BEFE Net current (liabilities) assets (3,320,208) 263,366
33,732,898 32,525,970
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2014
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2014 2013
B 5E FERT FAET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000

B R E Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 34 222,401 222,401
s Reserves 15,842,697 13,960,534

AR EHEB ANERRA Equity attributable to owners of the

Company 16,065,098 14,182,935
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 4,966,268 4,432,903
21,031,366 18,615,838

ERBEE Non-current liabilities
BB Government grants 29 82,472 88,240
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 30 5,933,818 7,331,576
BRERE Senior notes 31 5,698,823 5,683,954
HtREGE Other long-term liabilities 32 232,318 245,405
RIEBIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 754,101 560,957
12,701,532 13,910,132
33,732,898 32,525,970

FIBEVMAZHEVBREAEHETERN
TE-RFEZ AT ARBHMERRETIEL
BTIATREREESHE

and are signed on its behalf by:

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 194 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th March, 2015

IER AEH
WANG CHUANDONG SHI SHANBO
EF EE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31st December, 2014 BE_Z—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

ANAREARG
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARETE
Pl v
BRE  Shares Bk
#%&  heldfor At #a B
e BRHEE HARR  EREE  ERRRE Share incentive  Eftff iR hll Non-  KA#E
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital ~ Translation option award Other Merger  Retained &5 controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve profits Total interests equity

7 -7/ £/ v PR v £ 7 v -/ v > R -7/ A -7/ v RS -7 A £ - 7
HK$000  HK$000 ~ HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK$000

(Fika)  (Hikb) (i) (fitd)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

R=%-=§-7-H At 1st January, 2013 202401 6,378,643 7388600 20,53 967,394 13436 (194330) 705597 (8727518) 4924094 11698852 2967,138 14,685,990
R Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 2160945 2160945 662809 2823754
ERABRERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 524640 - - - - - B24BH0 110990 635630
FREANALE Total comprehensive income for the year = - = - 54640 = - = - 2160945 2685585 773799 3450384
FERERTE Capital contribution from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 1745 127445
hEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - B - - - B - - = - 1032150 1,032,150
ELEANBATE Arising on capital inection into a subsidiary - - - - - - - R - S R (2449 -
HERRDERE LR Disposal of shares held for incentive award

scheme - - - - - - 8217 - - 46,186 54,403 - 54,403
BARE (Kik12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - - (MB35 (348354) - (348354)
ERHEATERRESRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (395,180)  (395,180)
BREER Expiry of share options = = - = - (1343) = = = 13436 = = =
& Transfer - - - - - - - 216836 - (276,83) - - -
RZF-ZETZA=1-B At 31st December, 2013 202401 6,378,643 7388600 20535  1492,034 - (186,113) 1074882 (8727518) 6519471 14182935 4,432,903 18,615,838
FRE Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 2481628 2481628 869,231 3,350,859
ERABRERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - (98,185) - - - - - (93,185)  (12841)  (106,026)
FREANALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (93,185) - - - - 2481628 2,388,443 856,390 3,244,833
FERERTE Capital contriution from non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 154253 154253
hEHBAR Acquistion of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 67389 67,389
RiEHERBAR I ES Deemed disposal of partial interest in an

associate - - - - (9,415) - - - - 9,415 - - -
HLERREHERRL RN Disposal of shares held for incentive award

scheme - - - - - - 6,901 - - 30,003 36,004 - 36,904
BHRE (Kitte) Dividends paid (noe 12) = . = = = = . = - (a8 (543180 - (8
EfWRARELRERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (544,667)  (544,667)
£ Transfer - - - - - - - 2870 - (an26m0) - - -
RIZ-RETZA=1-B At 31st December, 2014 222401 6,378,643  7388,600 20535 1,389,434 - (179212) 1347552 (8,727518) 8,224,663 16,065,098 4,966,268 21,031,366
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Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arises from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures from
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”), and the change in net assets attributable to the Group in relation
to the increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.
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GERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-T-WET-A=1+—BLEE

—2—mEF —T—=fF
2014 2013
THERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R 7 BT V4 ) Profit before taxation 4,759,696 3,810,861
FHE Adjustments for:
FEZH Interest expense 536,954 523,558
FEUA Interest income (356,504) (260,483)
EHERBN Government grants recognised (25,851) (65,285)
EhEERREE Share of results of joint ventures (755,508) (698,426)
i NS E 3 Share of results of associates (105,213) (99,901)
HEYE  BENREESR Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
(M) equipment 31,670 (6,712)
HEBMNBLNRIBEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments 19,716 =
HEREYEEE Loss on disposal of investment properties - 727
TR k=N ) Loss on deemed disposal of partial interest
s EE in an associate 29,264 =
DHEREWE SR NERRE Impairment loss recognised on trade
receivables 125,984 26,410
M - BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 913,887 530,779
WIEN A FIER Release from prepaid lease payments 50,325 50,676
WEYESE Depreciation of investment properties 1,305 12,177
A G Amortisation of operating rights 33,464 29,520
KBASEEHANLLIRSRE  Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 5,259,189 3,853,901
FERD (%) Decrease (increase) in inventories 158,684 (158,681)
FEUE 5 B T Kz H fth B Wi k4% AN Increase in trade and other receivables (966,765) (2,460,047)
R P& AR M Increase in amounts due from customers for
contract works (687,901) (287,640)
FETE 5 BR T0 R H i & {~F 3032 40 Increase in trade and other payables 969,257 4,407,431
JERtEEA 4TI sIEE i Increase in amounts due to customers for
contract works 1,944,001 1,218,700
BEEBFEENES Cash generated from operations 6,676,465 6,573,664
BRHPREPEMEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (1,212,827) (902,423)
EEEBFERS TR NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,463,638 5,671,241
EPRRERERLAT - —F—UFFR 79
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 &HZE—-ZT—[F+—
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2014 2013
B s FERT FHET
NOTE HK$°000 HK$’000
REXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
& 8 H A 173k Purchase of other deposits (13,129,584) (17,372,897)
BEYE  BENMRENNF  Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (3,287,370) (8,764,027)
A AR AR A AR fE# 3R Advance to an intermediate holding
company (2,633,802) -
(MRZEMBARRR) KE (Advance to) repayment from fellow
RRM B A RMEXK subsidiaries (700,000) 33,913
W EE BT B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 37 (652,486) 658,783
BEVE  BELRREERS Deposits for property, plant and
equipment (490,371) (189,497)
REERRIMRE Investment in joint ventures (294,281) (3,201,651)
XA AFRIA Prepaid lease payments made (199,964) (184,565)
KRN Payments for operating rights (70,310) (182,981)
REEE QA RMIRE Investment in associates (59,675) (25,953)
ERHENFIERS Deposits for prepaid lease payments (45,405) (77,257)
KRS Deposits for operating rights (31,554) =
FHEEBRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (5,082) (307,608)
U B AT I B W R Payments for acquisition of
available-for-sale investments (1,839) (13,294)
2= by ES:0ANE-N Payments for acquisition of investment
properties (1,598) -
F& [B] B b 77 X AT 1S 308 Proceeds from redemption of
other deposits 13,823,937 16,595,371
AR RS A BB R Repayment from an intermediate
holding company 1,952,381 =
BEREER Repayment from a joint venturer 524,382 =
BRELRFIRE Dividend received from joint ventures 361,782 441,898
BT & Interest received 338,844 244,908
R E R RITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 156,890 177,938
BB E N FIRE Dividend received from associates 98,798 34,134
HEWE - BEKRE Proceeds from disposal of property,
F{SskIE plant and equipment 88,749 52,836
WEZESR D (3Em) Decrease (increase) in deposits for
investments 73,698 (16,721)
KEALANAIHER Repayment from (advance to) joint
(AIEERRRR) ventures 63,709 (275,066)
&S BN R A RIB TS SRR Proceeds from disposal of prepaid
lease payments 45,000 -
EWEREERBAOBTMEIS Government grants received related
to assets 40,598 28,098
K EIEERERAER Repayment from non-controlling interests 35,871 =
HEREYHFTISHRIE Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 2,295 =
o= b/ ES:0ANEN Payments for acquisition of investment
properties - (21,029)
REXBFARESEE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (3,996,387) (7,364,667)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—NF+_A=+—HIFE
= Sk —E—=F
2014 2013
THERT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mE XK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EEBITREMEER Repayments of bank and other borrowings (920,622) (260,753)
BB R BT E R RS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries (544,667) (895,180)
BHARE Dividends paid (543,184) (348,354)
BEARFLE Interest paid (482,823) (510,826)
(MEEATINER) kA (Repayment to) advance from joint ventures
AEDNABRK (20,252) 1,138,130
SR TRAEMEE New bank and other borrowings raised 1,700,496 2,418,800
LEpEsNSIE St g S pE Contribution from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries 154,253 127,445
HEABBEREZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held for
A&7 P45 5K I8 incentive award scheme 36,904 54.403
BB NG Repayment to fellow subsidiaries - (2,564,673)
A R H2E AR A R D38 X Repayment to an intermediate holding company - (45,016)
BMEXBHFTARSTE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (619,895) (386,024)
BeRBSZEEM (RY) B8\ NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 847,356 (2,079,450)
FUERSRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 6,722,425 8,455,320
INEERBEHNTE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES (17,262) 346,555
FRESRESEHE - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR,
BIiR1T&E R NI represented by bank balances and cash 7,552,519 6,722,425
ZEHRRERERAAF - —T—WFFH 81
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GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is
China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company established
in the PRC which is owned and controlled by the PRC government.
The addresses of registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information in the

annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”). The
Company uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency
because the Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$3,320 million,
and the Group has capital commitment of approximately HK$1,572
million as at 31st December, 2014. As at 31st December, 2014,
the Group has bank and other borrowings totalling approximately
HK$9,230 million of which approximately HK$3,297 million was
classified as current liabilities. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that there are good track records and relationship
with banks which would enhance the Group’s ability on renewing
the borrowing facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the internally generated funds of the Group and the
other factors described above, the Group has sufficient working
capital for its present requirements for the next twelve months
from 31st December, 2014. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs and
a new interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the current
year.

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

Investment Entities

Amendments to HKAS 36
Amendments to HKAS 39

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 Levies

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs and a new
interpretation in the current year has had no material effect on
the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2010 — 2012 Cycle?
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011 — 2013 Cycle!
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012 — 2014 Cycle®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative®
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation®

Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants®
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

Contributions'’
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception?®

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations?®
Financial Instruments®

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2014, with

earlier application permitted.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2014, with
limited exceptions. Earlier application is permitted.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2016,

with earlier application permitted.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2017,

with earlier application permitted.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2018,

with earlier application permitted.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede
the current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
“Revenue”’, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

The directors of the Company are in the process of ascertaining the
financial effect of the application of these new and revised HKFRSs
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-Based
Payment’ at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified in another standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a joint venture,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified
as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by

customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease
is classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising from remeasurement directly recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 6(c).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, loans to an intermediate
holding company and a fellow subsidiary, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash - cash and cash equivalents) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition. Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables, or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in
the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

. it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective

interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014



TESEE (&)

EWMITA (&)

ETHEERRALA (&)

EHEE

CRAE (BRENESRAREAM
ERR - MRITREMER  BERE
UAEEMEREE) £ EHRERREIN
BB SORR BN ANGE -

BERNBIERTIFES R B EN K
AERZERUEESME BT
% BRENERTZ S B A AR F 5
(HEE R LT BRI FERR
RHRE) B AR RN S I
Ko M B HIRERR AR EAERER

BUB R

EREERTRENG LWENE®
B S eREEMERNBAEY
Rl REHEET S ERER - A%
ESERRHRASREE -

RERERATREER  ZBREER
EEED KR ERRERRNEMEE
WARERE NS R R RE
BB ERABRRRPER -

AEENBENEETHRR - 2
SEmFRRERSRAR - CBKE
ERNTREENREEED I RE
MREREZBRNERDER -

fRE I IR M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities, are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated

at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income

immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over E[5EHRRAER A A

EBERRABRAF is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &
FiEERRABMR AR, The Group has the 50% ownership since
June 2006 on EEEBEMAAMRAR and the remaining 50% of
shareholdings are owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the

Group. Details of these are set out in note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over E5E B R AR AT based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of & 52 H
BRE AR A7) unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of holding in %3 B RS
FRAE]. The board of directors of E 5 HM R B AT comprise
7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4 directors in &
M EM A AR AR and the relevant activities of E5EBEMR A
[R 2 7] require over 50% of directors approval. After assessment,
the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant
voting interest to direct the relevant activities of &5 BRI HR
‘A &) therefore the Group has control over EFZE BRI ER A A

Control over E#HZFEHIRRAER A A

mIERMRRER LA is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in #&#5
EHMABMRAA). The Group has the 50% ownership since April
2005 on #EHEERF AR A F) and the remaining shareholdings are
owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details of
these are set out in note 45.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Control over 5% HIAR AR A7 (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over fEHEMPKAERAEF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
SRR AR A F unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of holding in £&
$HE PRI AR AR, On 1st January, 2013, the shareholders of
5 R RABR AT signed a memorandum in which the other
shareholder would agree the Group’s decisions on operating,
investing and financing activities of #HEBERFAEMRAF and
the other shareholder would agree the appointment of all senior
management of #EiHZ=EERRT AR AT nominated by the Group.
After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has
sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of #E5ZE IR T BR A5 and therefore the Group has control over
EHEBMRERAF.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation. When
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment due to the
change of commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written down for
future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2014 is HK$21,511,872,000 (2013: HK$18,527,861,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st December, 2014, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$1,042,033,000 (2013: HK$409,952,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Impairment of operating rights

At the end of the reporting period, management assessed
the recoverability of its operating rights, in which the carrying
2014 was HK$790,569,000 (2013:
The business of the cash generating unit

amount at 31st December,
HK$758,244,000).
continues to progress in a satisfactory manner. Detailed valuation
analysis has been carried out and management is confident that
the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full. This
situation will be closely monitored. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future cashflows
in the future. If the future recoverable amounts fall below the
carrying amounts, additional impairment is required.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are made
on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence that
the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes judgment
in assessing the collectability based on observable data including
creditworthiness and payment history of the customers (for details
please refer to note 23). When objective evidence for allowance
exists, the amount of allowance is the difference between the
carrying amounts of the debts and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Where the expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amounts of debtors and doubtful debt expenses in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Allowance for doubtful debts (Continued)

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance of
HK$161,707,000 (2013: HK$35,324,000), at 31st December, 2014
is HK$3,955,378,000 (2013: HK$2,977,606,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2014, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$639,576,000 (2013: HK$791,955,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 6(c) provides
detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various
assets and liabilities.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

€@ T A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) =WMITEEH (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E—MF —E—=%F
2014 2013
FE T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
SRMEE Financial assets
RAFEFABENESEEE  Financial assets at FVTPL 2,154,988 2,861,753
BER & EWRIE Loans and receivables
(BEREMREEE) (including cash and
cash equivalents) 13,757,981 11,204,956
AIEHERE Available-for-sale investments 52,292 21,383
sEas Financial liabilities
b XN At amortised cost 23,853,117 22,890,601
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
available-for-sale investments, trade and other receivables,
loans to an intermediate holding company and a fellow
subsidiary, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, bank and other borrowings, senior
notes and other long-term liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currency other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly loan to a fellow subsidiary,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, bank and
other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

—E—QmE —F—=F
2014 2013
THERT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets

ET United States dollars 244,527 78,210
BT Hong Kong dollars 1,127,935 519,791

8E& Liabilities
E7T United States dollars 5,698,823 5,683,954
BT Hong Kong dollars 8,500,000 7,800,000
Bt Japanese Yen 159,895 157,467

A& HE B ) BT M K B O
B HIEINE R o AEER
B AT S RTINS R R & A
FONE R o B E N MR
ZEEIHINER R -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2013: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate which represents
management’'s assessment of the possible change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for
5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when RMB
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For
a 5% weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit
for the year.

= kA —T=%F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Epw United States dollars
F AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 272,715 280,287
BT Hong Kong dollars
FERFADEF Pre-tax profit for the year 368,603 364,010
=7 Japanese Yen
FRBATRF Pre-tax profit for the year 7,995 7,873

ERERS  AREFREEDN
R B I TR 2 F A R - E
GURE DT T LR R E B B SNE
[2\Bzz o

FIEmE

REBAZHREZ BRI E
NHEERRIREA - WRRHB
ARRHAER « BITREME
ENReREFERAR (FEZ
ZHEENFERL2BMF23
25 28}:30) - EEEFEER
FIRFEERL AT ERGS i
— R R R R

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures,
loan to a fellow subsidiary, bank and other borrowings (see
notes 23, 25, 28 and 30 for details of these borrowings). The
management continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation
and will consider further hedging interest rate risk should the
need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate loan to an intermediate holding company,
bank and other borrowings, and senior notes (see notes 25,
30 and 31 for details). The management continuously monitors
interest rate exposure.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market
interest rate on bank balances (see note 27 for details of
these deposits). The management considers the Group’s
exposure of the short-term bank deposits to interest rate risk
is not significant as interest bearing bank balances are within
short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances
and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming those balances outstanding at the end of each
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 10
or 50 basis points increase or decrease which represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on bank balances, pledged bank deposits,
loan to a fellow subsidiary and amounts due to joint ventures
carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax
profit for the year ended 31st December, 2014 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$6,418,000 (2013:
HK$6,942,000). If the interest rate on floating-rate amounts
due from joint ventures and bank and other borrowings had
been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st
December, 2014 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$43,829,000 (2013: HK$39,660,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
bank balances with variable rates and floating-rate bank and
other borrowings.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from loan to a fellow subsidiary
and the Group’s borrowings denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising from
the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

At 31st December, 2014, the Group has concentration

of credit risk in relation to the receivables from an
intermediate holding company, a fellow subsidiary, joint
ventures and a joint venturer amounting to HK$694,532,000
(2013: nil), HK$707,695,000 (2013: nil), HK$525,078,000
(2013: HK$455,202,000) and nil (2013: HK$524,382,000),
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management has reviewed the recoverable amount of each
receivable from its intermediate holding company, fellow
subsidiary, joint ventures and joint venturer at the end of
each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk

is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2014, the Group has net current liabilities
of approximately HK$3,320 million. Taking into account of the
internally generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described in note 1, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31st December, 2014.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
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6. €T A (&) 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) HHEEREBEEZEREE (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
mEEZERE () Liquidity risk (Continued)
BB-F
RERSY EBFERLF KR
METHFE F5-£ Over REREAE
Weighted ~ Ondemand 1 year but RALE Total REE
average or less than not more Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year than 5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% ThR ThR TER ThR TER

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-Z-ME+-A=+—-H At 31st December, 2014
ERE SRT R EMEMNT Trade and other payables

-%8 - interest-free - 6,783,823 - - 6,783,823 6,783,823
-8 ~ interest bearing 2.16 1,943,389 - - 1043389 1907822
ROTREMEE Bank and other borrowings 15 3,421,887 5,923,993 182,296 9,528,176 9,230,331
BRZE Senior notes 2.38 261,787 1,047,149 6,864,644 8,173,580 5,698,823
HtREE R Other long-term liabilities 4.14 23,036 99,158 172,005 294,199 232,318

12,433,922 7,070,300 7,218,945 26,723,167 23,853,117

W=B-=%+-H=1+-R At 31st December, 2013
EAESEFREENR Trade and other payables

-48 - interest-free - 6,880,879 - - 6,880,879 6,880,879
— 5 - interest bearing 2.16 1,930,915 - - 1,930,915 1,890,038
BROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.25 154,897 8,144,271 201,456 8,500,624 8,190,325
BEZE Senior notes 2.38 261,718 1,046,871 6,993,680 8,302,269 5,683,954
HitRHaE Other long-term liabilities 3 16,833 42,879 240,327 300,039 245,405

9,245,242 9,234,021 7,435,463 25,914,726 22,890,601
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following table

gives information about how the fair values of these financial

assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,

the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

HEFER EXTTEE TUREBARE
IZRAEE BABE HAVENBE
ATEER Valuation Significant Relationship of
SREE RTSIRENATE Fair value technique(s) and  unobservable unobservable HEE
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
~-pf -
tZA=1-A t-A=1-H
31st December, 31st December,
2014 2013
HEERE IHRARS - rokAEs-  ER ARMENRE  TEA NER NER
2,606,000 1,891,000/ 7 NE
Available-for-sale Listed equity Listed equity Level 1 Quoted bid prices ~ N/A N/A N/A
investments securities - securities - in an active market.
HK$2,606,000 HK$1,891,000
BRERRIHEL ReEESERE  RPEAZFER 4 ERmenE AR BEMEENT  BleEdR.  EERR AHER
B BERAATEL  BERASE RERENRERR 4.35%%51%  ATEEE. MERSERE
BfERIER TANEAHH RERBORENT DE2ERBRAE il GESE
2,154,988,000%  2861,753,000 T ANEARERE B RAREHER oA T EHE
5 BRBSESF mEIAREKIA SYREX HUE
TNEERRNAE ER- SFIHEFAH o
BR-
Other deposits placed  Structured Bank depositsin -~ Level 3 Discounted cash ~ Expected yields,  The higher the The directors
in the banks deposits in the the PRC with non- flow. Future determined by expected yields,  consider that
PRC with non- closely related cash flows are reference to the higher the fair  the impact of
closely related embedded estimated based  the underlying value. the fluctuation in
embedded derivatives - on share index and ~ share index, the expected yields
derivatives - HK$2,861,753,000 expected yields money market to the fair value of
HK$2,154,988,000 of the instruments ~ instruments and the other deposits was
invested by the debt instruments insignificant as
banks, discounted  invested by the the deposits have
at arate that banks, of 4.35% to short maturities,
reflects the credit ~ 5.1% and therefore no
risk of various sensitivity analysis
counterparties. is presented.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements (Continued)

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values. The fair values
of financial assets and financial liabilities included in the
level 3 category have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

No gains or losses for the current year relating other deposits
placed in the banks are recognised in profit or loss as the
amount involved is insignificant. Therefore no reconciliation
of Level 3 fair value measurements is presented.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum gas
for residential, commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks under
gas connection contracts

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, finance
costs, central administration costs, release from prepaid lease
payments and directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported to
the executive directors of the Company for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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EEERIEER (&) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

DR - HIREE -
HaBNERMT

BE-2-HNF+-A=+t—-HILEFE

DREERD

assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

T MW a RFEE Segment revenue and results

HERDHRE

BEREEER

Sale and

distribution of MmER
gas fuel and Gas At
related products connection Total
TERT FHERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B Turnover
G External sales 22,480,639 6,236,386 28,717,025
E4 Results

DEER Segment results 2,654,572 2,844,221 5,498,793
EhEERNRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 755,508
BB E A RIS Share of results of associates 105,213
B RS R AR Finance costs (536,954)
ROBUWA Unallocated income 785,427
AOBHX Unallocated expenses (1,848,291)
R 75 AT A Profit before taxation 4,759,696

EPMRERBBRAF - — T MOFFR
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EEERSEER (&) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—NFE+-A=+—-BHLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)
(#)
THEHEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHAE
BEREEER
Sale and
distribution of MRER
gas fuel and Gas Bt
related products connection Consolidated
FExT FTHER FExT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 26,203,401 4,519,154 30,722,555
RE &R AR ER Interests in joint ventures 9,559,564
NN L Interests in associates 1,990,259
BELERIBEE Deferred tax assets 127,738
ROPATEE (MiFa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,116,921
57,517,037
=N LIABILITIES
DIEEE Segment liabilities 5,345,185 10,446,347 15,791,532
FER IR Taxation payable 431,268
FELEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 754,101
RAOFATIBE (H3b) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 19,508,770
36,485,671
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7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

Other information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment

3 : assets:
HERDH
FERER
HEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RRIER
and related Gas FoE &t
products connection Unallocated Total
AT FAERT FTHET AT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
REIEREEE (ffsfc) Additions to non-current assets (Note c) 3,892,415 - 2,964,065 6,856,480
WEEM B ARIETES 2 Additions to non-current assets arising
FFRBEERNE from acquisition of subsidiaries 441,533 - 108,176 549,709
e R#HE (Fise) Depreciation and amortisation (Note c) 748,133 - 200,523 948,656
FRBR TR L3R IE Release of prepaid lease payments - - 50,325 50,325
B SEWERTUREETE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 125,984 - - 125,984
HEWE  BER Loss on disposal of property, plant and
HAEEE equipment 31,670 - - 31,670
BIELEBE AT Loss on deemed disposal of partial interest
IR EE in an associate - - 29,264 29,264
BE-Z—=F+"A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2013
DB R A Segment revenue and results
HERDHAE
WRE R AR E
Sale and
distribution of WA B
gas fuel and Gas &&
related products connection Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
2 Turnover
SN External sales 17,164,278 5,128,749 22,288,027
E4 Results
DIREE Segment results 2,247,139 2,492,593 4,739,732
A RN E Share of results of joint ventures 698,426
FEIEE & A RIEE Share of results of associates 99,901
B TSR A Finance costs (523,558)
ROBBA Unallocated income 595,872
KOBHL Unallocated expenses (1,799,512)
R 75 AT A Profit before taxation 3,810,861
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7. BERRSEER (B) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—=5+Z"A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)
(#)
THEHEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
$HE Rk HRES
PR R AR EE
Sale and
distribution of MEER
gas fuel and Gas =
related products connection Consolidated
FHT FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE ASSETS
DB E Segment assets 22,015,545 2,209,792 24,225,337
RE &R AR ER Interests in joint ventures 8,853,031
NN L Interests in associates 1,956,465
EIEF B B Deferred tax assets 98,630
ROBAREE (ffzra) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,348,328
50,481,791
af& LIABILITIES
DEEE Segment liabilities 2,759,135 6,481,791 9,240,926
FERTFRIR Taxation payable 396,520
EETIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 560,957
ROBARERE (MsEb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 21,667,550
31,865,953
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EERRIEER (B) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE_Z—=F+"A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)
(&)
H&# Other information
AESBENRSEEEMTT AZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
3 : assets:
HERDH
FEEE R
MERE M
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel REER
and related Gas vl A&t
products connection  Unallocated Total
FAET FAT FAL FAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REIFRFEAE (i)  Additions to non-current assets (Note c) 3,842,211 - 241,390 4,083,601
BB ARIFTES 2  Additions to non-current assets arising
FRBEERE from acquisition of subsidiaries 2,432,167 = - 2,432,167
rER#H (Mic) Depreciation and amortisation (Note ¢) 466,589 - 105,887 572,476
R RNATE Release of prepaid lease payments = = 50,676 50,676
BHRIEEFRBERE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 26,410 - - 26,410
HEWE  BER Gain on disposal of property, plant
B and equipment 6,712 = = 6,712
HERBMEER Loss on disposal of investment
properties - - 727 727
Bt Notes:

a. AROMARBEEUBUREHERD
SR BB R R AR B M DA R MR SR B
MBARMELENEE KREY
¥ ANEARE  BNBROKAR
& REZS  JHEERE  Hi
R WA ERHFIA - M
ERARRAAMERRREHENE
o BERRTHETARRITESRR
BE e

b. RNOEAFTEMBIEEMENR - B
Fx - WIBHE QB EMRE - R
TREMER BERBRAREME
HaE (TEERRELERAENR
) - ROTREMERRELERER
AEENRETRERE - MHOBERK
SERARAEE -

c. AEEB2EME BERXEBSE
EXELE - MEBHWE - BERR
BRENRDE - BERBREREKR
DR -

Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries and which are engaged in sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products and gas connection, investment
properties, prepaid lease payments, deposits for prepaid lease
payments, deposits for investments, available-for-sale investments,
other receivables, amount due from a joint venturer, loans to an
intermediate holding company and a fellow subsidiary, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances and cash.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries, bank
and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities
(excluding payable for acquisition of operating rights). Bank and other
borrowings and senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate
liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function
of the Group.

The Group allocates all property, plant and equipment to respective

segment while certain additions to property, plant and equipment and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are unallocated.
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7. EXBRSBER (&) TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
HEE R Geographical information
REZMER @ AEBMEEBRIER The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluded financial
PEE (TEEeRITARELERE instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in
BE) IIRPBIEENARE - the PRC during both years.
BRETEEFNER Information about major customers
REZMERN - WERKBE—IIPREF No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
RS AR E Y E10%8 A E o amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.
8. MR A FINANCE COSTS
—E-—mF —T—=fF
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE Interests on:
ARAFANEBHEEN Bank and other borrowings wholly
RITREMEER repayable within five years 214,286 188,989
BERAFARBEEEDN Bank and other borrowings not wholly
RITRAEMEES repayable within five years 6,750 6,565
BARAFANBHEESN Senior notes not wholly repayable
BREE within five years 275,147 274,450
A EA[FIE Amounts due to joint ventures 38,036 32,022
A IEE =PGRS Amount due to a fellow subsidiary - 19,378
HEHtRHEE Other long-term liabilities 2,735 2,154
536,954 523,558
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BRBL A% R 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
= ke —F—=f
2014 2013
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRA AT A E 40 (BT A) - Profit before taxation has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
B TR Staff costs
EBEMe (MEE11) Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 22,254 26,026
EMBET Other staff
— Hre RALA — Salaries and bonus 1,888,603 1,352,611
— HhE — Other benefits 388,629 586,661
— REEE TwITE — Performance related incentive payments
K #EE (LnPTEE35 under the Incentive Award Scheme
TR E) (as defined in note 35) 27,213 36,173
— R A ET B R — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 371,221 279,609
B TR AN42%58 Total staff costs 2,697,920 2,281,080
ZE AN & Auditor’s remuneration 8,831 5,378
Y% - BRERZREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 913,887 530,779
FRBR BT A 295K IE Release of prepaid lease payments 50,325 50,676
REMESNE Depreciation of investment properties 1,305 12,177
KSR Amortisation of operating rights
(Bt AfTERES) (included in administrative expenses) 33,464 29,520
U E 5 ERFUREE R Impairment loss on trade receivables 125,984 26,410
HEMENKEROEE Operating lease rentals in respect of rented
premises 136,642 106,041
HEWE - BE KR Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and
EE (as) equipment 31,670 (6,712)
HEFEN AL RIEEE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments 19,716 =
HEREMEERE Loss on disposal of investment properties - 727
BIEHEB SRR R Loss on deemed disposal of partial interest in
RIEE () an associate (Note) 29,264 =
BT B & Government grants (25,851) (65,285)
RITTERF B Interest on bank deposits (151,899) (100,942)
HizsF e Interest on other deposits (116,872) (112,440)
R BTN R RH B A A Interest income from deposits placed in a
K77 1A B U A fellow subsidiary (20,396) (34,970)
KA M EER A R Interest income from loan to an intermediate
R ERF B WA holding company (51,603) =
NI E N NGRS Interest income from loan to a fellow subsidiary
K E A B A (7,695) =
KEEERRHFEHA Interest income from joint ventures (2,945) (3,829)
REEEBHHFSBA Interest income from a joint venturer (5,094) (15,575)
REZREMENESWA Rental income from investment properties
(BRI ZEEHR) (net of negligible outgoings) (4,929) (2,907)
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9. BRBADER (4F)

M R EERIESERNARA
([EERR) BHELEE %x%
FrEm - FAlt - ZEBREERED
T 25 H25% ) > £22.49% -

AEH

BE-F-ME+-A=t+—ALER

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

HBEHEEERADOERBZSEE BIRR.

829,264,000/ 7T °

Note: During the year, EEMREERHBER AR (“EEMRER") listed its
shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. As a result, the Group’s
interest in EEMAR reduced from 25% to 22.49% and the Group had
a loss of HK$29,264,000 on deemed disposal of partial interest in &

10. B8 10. TAXATION
—2-ImEF —F=F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
M HEE The tax charge comprises:
RIHAT 18 Current taxation
ST PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,140,943 875,084
BAFERETR Underprovision in prior years 2,016 19,464
BT RKLEE 7K Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
SR TEIRR of investments in the PRC 98,122 77,253
1,241,081 971,801
EXEFIR (MI5E33) Deferred taxation (note 33)
REE Current year 167,756 15,306
1,408,837 987,107

FARB BT BB TR E AT ER
Fiom ML B £16.5% (Z T —=F :
16.5%) it & - AR AR ERBSLK
BRK B AR EERTER
i jﬁﬁ%ﬁé%éﬁﬁ‘%%&i’% Wit &S

ST

BREBEHEARIMBEEEFETE
(TEEMERZE]D) REEMEREAR
eiEp - B-FTNF-A—HIE

BB A R R 325%

SEER=ZEEEHX -

1B B B R Bl R B 75 48 B &

wmm (R T ——FE15%)
BhEERAINRIRESED
=T N\ F— A — B A1 BRE A FI B Al
e MBI MR ZBBBEAM
B R A Tk B9 R BRI ZE AR R B
EEMERF27IE AR EF BB
Al %9111 125%3510%H) T & 51 4 1

EHMEH (AP BEEEHR) -

HEE T

RER=

entitled to various concessionary tax rates.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st
January, 2008 onwards except for certain group entities which are

T B According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
2N Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,

91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

LUNNE comprehensive income as follows:
—E-mF —ET—=F
2014 2013
FTERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT A A Profit before taxation 4,759,696 3,810,861
REA SR E25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
—E—=4 :25%) (2013: 25%)
AHERTIE 1,189,924 952,715
B S AT HR R S Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
RS2 tax purposes 191,871 130,184
B R G BAERBA Tax effect of income not taxable for
T TS R 28 tax purposes (53,949) (13,382)
FEEB L AR EENTHKEE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (26,303) (24,975)
EEA B ATEENTKTE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (188,877) (174,607)
RERRIBE BN S 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 38,651 34,810
FABE T ARERAFIARFE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (13,936) (2,303)
RABKLEEHER Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
Fﬁ%fﬁlﬁ;}ijﬁﬁ'}%ﬁ% to subsidiaries operating in the PRC (30,988) (27,930)
REBHETENER Income tax at concessionary rates (6,778) (3,808)
A AR BRI E R DK % Withholding tax for undistributed profits of
HTEFIRT investments in the PRC 218,428 15,678
BRETEIREE SR AN Withholding tax paid for distributed profits of
HFEFIF investments in the PRC 86,013 77,253
BEFEEETR Underprovision in prior years 2,016 19,464
Efh Others 2,765 4,008
FABREX Tax charge for the year 1,408,837 987,107

EBMREREBRA

B T-mEFH
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ESENESHOMESDT

Directors

11. DIRECTORS’

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

ZE-ME 2014 Z5-ZF 13
f £l Name of Director YR BKER BWAE BINE
R il 5 EER R L5 R
Rf6EA  Performance  Retirement EtiEH  Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
#&  andother incentive schemes Aif we and other incentive schemes A
Fees benefits payments  contributions Total Fees henefits payments  contributions Total
TEn TEn TEn Fn TEn Tin TR Thr Thn T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
€3 Executive directors
&R Wang Chuandong 70 2,361 - 155 2,586 70 1917 9,381 144 11,512
REf Shi Shanbo 70 1,963 6,144 155 8,332 70 1,495 7493 144 9,202
B (Miita) Ge Bin (Note a) 60 1,400 4,958 89 6,507 - - - - -
TR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,658 2,023 181 4,132 70 1,638 2,682 182 4572
FafnEe Non-executive directors
HXE Du Wenmin - - - - - - - - - -
5 Wei Bin - - - - - - - - - -
KE Chen Ying 70 - - - 0 70 - - - 70
k4B Wang Yan (Note b) 27 - - - 27 - - - - -
EEE (Hie)  Huang Daoguo (Note c) - - - - - 70 - - - 70
BIFHHEE  Independent non-
executive directors
R Wong Tak Sing 150 - - - 150 150 - - - 150
T Yu Jian 150 - - - 150 150 - - - 150
ER Yu Hon To, David 150 - - - 150 150 - - - 150
R4 Qin Chaokui 150 - - - 150 150 - - - 150
967 7,382 13,325 580 22,254 950 5,050 19,556 470 26,026
B &E Notes:

a. RBREFVN_FT-NF_A=—T1H
BEZRATE -

b. ZREEZDR_Z-—NENA+=H
EZRAE -

c. RAEFER-_Z-—NENA+Z=H

R -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014

a. The director was appointed on 20th February, 2014.

b. The director was appointed on 13th August, 2014.

c. The director retired on 13th August, 2014.
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AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. Shi Shanbo is the chief executive officer of the Company
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive.

Performance related incentive payments were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances
and comparable market statistics. Included therein were amounts
granted to directors of HK$11,673,000 (2013: HK$18,230,000)
under the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in note 35.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2013:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2013: three)
highest paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E—QmE —E—=F

2014 2013

FExT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

e REMBEAR Salaries and other benefits 3,924 2,205
WTTER RS Performance related incentive payments 10,376 14,028
BRIREFIET MK Retirement benefit schemes contributions 243 250
14,543 16,483

EPMRERBBRAF - — T MOFFR 133
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M. EERTHEAZMNESRA R 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

REHESR (& EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
&8 (&) Employees (Continued)
LiiEERNME N A TEHE : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following
bands:
—2-NF —E-=F
2014 2013
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
4,500,001 70 %£5,000,0008 7t HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3 2

6,500,001 7C%7,000,000/%7C HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 -

12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—B-mE —F—=F
2014 2013
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FABRABDEKORE Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
T MERHRS — FIR5HBM 2014 interim dividend - 5 HK cents per share
(ZZ—=F: =% (2013: 2013 interim dividend
FHEIR S — G Rk2EL) - 2 HK cents per share) 108,637 44,480
—E-=FRHRE — FR20%1 2013 final dividend - 20 HK cents per share
(ZB—=F:2——F (2013: 2012 final dividend
RERE — GR147%0) - 14 HK cents per share) 434,547 303,874
543,184 348,354
EFERARRENEEZE-_S—NF The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
TZA=+T—BLEFENRERES 20 HK cents (2013: 20 HK cents) per share for the year ended
0B (ZF — = F : & R20H 31st December, 2014 amounting to HK$434,928,000 (2013:
fili) - 4855 3%£434,928,000/8 7T (=& HK$434,547,000).

— =4 : 434,547,000/ 7T) °
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13. BREF

FRERREER T THRIAT BB

s
= -

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

based on the following data:

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

—E-—QmE —E—=F
2014 2013
FET F#T
HK$°’000 HK$’000
B : Earnings:
BAUGESRERREBERT Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted
HBF (RAEHE A earnings per share (profit for the year
FEAEF R F) attributable to owners of the Company) 2,481,628 2,160,945
=k —F—=F
2014 2013

RABEE :

RAGFESREARRTIA
REFHEEITRNER
B SRR AT &S A IR

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

2,172,768,251

2,170,601,351

BIEESEI D MR 2B AR R Effect of dilutive potential shares Share options TEA N/A 452
R ESRES R 8 Weighted average number of shares in issue

IEEHEBEITRMHEAE less shares held for incentive award scheme

kA R BN 2l A B D for the purpose of diluted earnings per share TEA N/A 2,170,601,803

HRAEFETHEEHTHNELLR
B MU ERBE—T—NFE+ A
=t—BHIFE2IERESRN -

shares in issue in the year.

No diluted earnings per share has been presented for the year
ended 31st December, 2014 as there were no potential ordinary

EPMRERBBRAF - — T MOFFR
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BE_ZT-NE+_A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE-
BERRE
Plant,
HENE machinery fHREE GRREE HE%E RE HEIE
Leasehold and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction fit
properties equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
Thn THR A T Thn THn Thn THn
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
158 THE GROUP
A CosT
R=2-=%-A-A At 1st January, 2013 1478529 1,305,108 7.967,254 150,694 34,852 456,211 2623443 14,016,001
Ef A% Exchange adjustments 10,39 10,560 23293 11916 7603 8,105 12,531 84,404
AE Additions 253,100 349,604 838,991 45993 29,304 145,064 2,005,245 3,867,301
WERERA Acquisition of subsidiaries 516,922 69,190 1,204,486 21890 = 19,970 292,687 2,145,145
i3 Disposals (13,567) (18,089) (13,153) (10,020) - (20,654) (5,118) (80,601)
5 Transfer 165,914 166,208 2,018,774 5233 - 3179 (2359,308) =
WZE-=E+F=F-8  At31st December, 2013 2,411,294 1882581 12,059,645 225,706 71,759 611,875 2769480 20,032,340
Ejag Exchange adjusiments (6251) (6,304) (26,521) (590) 97 (2009) (10.552) (52,130)
RE Additions 257,331 157,852 646,702 115,851 72518 130,828 2,001 471 3622553
WERERA Acqisition of subsidiaries 29,104 76,744 292,242 1,166 = 7589 34,440 441,285
i3 Disposals (21,448) (30.875) (28,994) (15.472) (1,425) (59,675) (15,818) (182,707)
-5 Transfer 220,982 295,981 1,621,431 31,099 1516 3342 (2.174351) =
WZZ-WE+ZA=+-8  At31st December, 2014 2,891,012 2366979 14564505 357,760 144,465 691,950 2804670 23,861,341
ERBE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
R-2-=%-f-A At 1st January, 2013 48,636 168,011 606,176 52,040 2944 100,082 26,831 1,006,520
B A% Exchange adjustments 155 665 682 116 2 3 - 1,657
RERRE Provided for the year 54570 57,397 325,102 29837 1731 62,142 = 530,779
L ERHE Eliminated on disposals (2214) (6,998) (1787) (10,001) = (13.477) = (34.477)
WZF-ZE+ZF=1-8  At31st December, 2013 101,147 219975 930,173 72,892 4677 148,784 26,831 1,504 479
ER@% Exchange adjusiments (591) (1,742) (3437) (341) 144 (642) - (6,609)
KEEEE Provided for the year 86,998 140,40 487,266 76,062 36,077 87,079 - 913,887
LERHE Eliminated on disposals (8,982) (14,211) (8,682) (11,973) 2 (18,378) - (62,288)
RoB-ME+-A=+-8  At31st December, 2014 178,572 344,367 1,405,320 136,640 40,89 216,843 26,831 2,349,469
BEE CARRYING VALUES
WZZ-WE+ZF=1-8  At31st December, 2014 2,712,440 202612 13,159,185 221,120 103,569 475107 2817839 21511872
WZB-=£+fA=+-8  At31st December, 2013 2310,147 1662606 11129472 152,814 67,082 463,091 2742649 18527861
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the relevant

lease terms, if shorter
Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years
equipment
Gas pipelines 20 to 30 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 12 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter
Motor vehicles 315 to 10 years
The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

land in the PRC and held under medium-term leases.

At 31st December, 2014, property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$40,608,000 (2013: HK$6,223,000)
are pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E-QmF —T—=F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEERFBANHELRE The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise
BRI AP Bz HR of leasehold land situated in the PRC
HARBNHEE T on medium-term lease:
FERBEE Non-current assets 1,298,818 1,132,220
MENEE Current assets 60,119 55,115
1,358,937 1,187,335
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BHE—ZT-NE+-_A=+—HILtEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

T

HK$'000
[5%:S COST
R-_E—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2013 4,233
[ 5, A 28 Exchange adjustments 233
NE Additions 21,029
HeE Disposals (833)
NRZEBE—=F+=-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2013 24,662
b 5, = Exchange adjustments (88)
NE Additions 1,598
U BEKT B A A Acquisition of a subsidiary 36,665
e Disposals (2,853)
RZZE—WFE+=_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 59,984
e DEPRECIATION
R-—E—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2013 1,369
PE A EE Exchange adjustments 82
NEE R Provided for the year 12,177
HE Disposals (106)
R-ZT—=F+=-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2013 13,522
b 5 AR Exchange adjustments (42)
NEZ R Provided for the year 1,305
HeE Disposals (558)
N-E—mE+=—A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 14,227
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R-_ZE—WF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 45,757
R-ZE—=%F+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 11,140

REBE A AEER O AFFE AR
BMESRAKIEE AR EREN TR
BEEURARAGE  ANBE/K
BWMENR - TEDIRAHHEFH
B BEMIH IR B MR o

RZE—MER_FT—=F+-_A=
+—H  AEENMEREMEHDN
KR - B A+ EFEL -

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the
remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2014 and 2013, all of the Group’s investment
properties are situated in the PRC with medium-term of lease.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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17. REE QRIS 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E—MmF —=—=
2014 2013
FaT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
NELATIELTHIREHMKA  Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 4,470,084 4,173,143
FEA W B 1805 T & Share of post-acquisition profits and
Hib2mEUEA - other comprehensive income,
ORRE MR S, net of dividend received 5,089,480 4,679,888
9,559,564 8,853,031
RIEHR  AEBNETEZEE LA Details of the Group principal joint ventures at the end of the
FHIBEA M 46 © reporting period are set out in note 46.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

BE-P-ME+-A=+—BILFE

17. REE R RER (&) 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
EEMSAYFBEANESEATNA Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
FER material

BETIHBLEFE
Year ended
—E-OF —T—=F
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
REE AR & The Group’s share of profit and total
2HEUAEEE comprehensive income 168,078 161,235
18. REtE N AR 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—2-HmF —E=F
2014 2013
THET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
N NI g0 B#N Cost of investments in associates
— BB LT (MisEa) — Listed outside Hong Kong (Note a) 1,498,955 =
—3EET — Unlisted 218,907 1,688,182
JE A5 s B 12 s A1) Fe EL A, Share of post-acquisition profits and other
Z2EKA - HIRBEKARE comprehensive income, net of dividend
received 272,397 268,283
1,990,259 1,956,465
FHRENATE (KHizEb) Fair value of listed investments (Note b) 4,401,246 =
BisE - Notes:
a. ER BEEREZBHER EEEE a. During the year, EEMR listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock
RS kT o Exchange.
b. LHRHHAFEFE (BE—RAF b.  The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
BHiE) DAREFEBRHTENTER measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.
RNIPEH KR AEBNTERLZS QT Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
FEIEH M FE47 - reporting period are set out in note 47.
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HE-_T-—NGF+-_A=+—HILFE

18. REt&E N Al fER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
—BEEREQATANTEERRE Summarised financial information of a material associate
AEENFEBRENRERRANY Summarised financial information in respect of EEMRE, the
HERBEEERT AT - Group’s material associate, is set out below.

ZE DB NERAERERNZERE This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
B 5B P AL © consolidated financial statements.
—E-mE =H==5
2014 2013
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MEEE Current assets 3,550,559 3,357,426
FERBEE Non-current assets 5,602,078 4,632,814
mEaE Current liabilities 2,159,313 1,486,159
FERBAE Non-current liabilities 2,475,434 2,393,016
FEE AR Non-controlling interests 342,489 315,185
BETHAHPLEE
Year ended
—F-mF =H==5F
+=A=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
FExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
A Revenue 7,224,605 7,523,912
FRENRE2EBALRTE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 462,562 393,802
FREWEE ARIRE Dividends received from the associate
for the year 79,168 21,630
144 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 BE_Z—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

—E-NF —E—=%F
2014 2013
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HmAE ANEEBERR] Net assets of the associate EEME
EEMRANEEFE attributable to owners 4,175,401 3,795,880
REBREERANEAE Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in
Rz L 15 BEERR 22.49% 25%
RER A FLEARNTE Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 714,591 724,017
Efth % Other adjustments (19,286) =
AEEREEMA T ESL Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
BRTE(E BEMRER 1,634,352 1,672,987

TEEE AT E RN FEEAEEN
UrEE) - HAEEHERARIR
fERmREERMRER S LHETH
MREBRLEBRESR HIBEXE
BRI E o

EEMSUFEBERNBHEQXRANA

The material associate is principally engaged in similar activities
as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as sale of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction of gas
pipelines networks under gas connection contracts. Its principal
place of business is the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

sFER material
—E-OF —E—=F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEE G EEE The Group’s share of profit and total
PN comprehensive income 30,484 17,868
AEBENZERE R A Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
PRERHNREAE interests in these associates 355,907 283,478
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE-T—WF+-A=+—HIFE

19. A ERE 19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
—E-NF —F—=

2014 2013

FaT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

R R ERRD - AT E Listed shares in the PRC, at fair value 2,606 1,891
R ERIEETRAKRE Unlisted equity investments in the PRC,

AR at cost 49,686 19,492

52,292 21,383

ETROHAFESE (BE—HRAFE The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value

Bt 2) HREERTISHTERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

I LT R AR & 187 B 72 R B 5 K The unlisted equity investments represent investments in unlisted

UWALEER (FERSRIERHEE equity securities issued by private entities incorporated in the

RMREBERER) MBTHNIEL PRC, which are principally engaged in sales of liquefied gas

TRABHFZRE - IRV BEER and connection of gas pipelines. They are measured at cost less

MR ERERETE  BEEA impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because

FEMGFOEEBRKN  WERERA the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that

BERFETEREMETE - the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be

measured reliably.

20. & 20. GOODWILL

FHET
HK$’'000

BRTEE CARRYING VALUE
R-_ZE—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2013 402,369
b R Exchange adjustments 7,583
R-_EBE—=F+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 409,952
U BB H B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 634,656
Ve 5 R Exchange adjustments (2,5675)
R-_ZE—MNFE+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 1,042,033
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash generating units (*CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The management considers each
subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. As the subsidiaries are engaged in both
“sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products” and “gas
connection” segments, the goodwill is not further allocated to each
segment. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

—E—MF —T—=F

2014 2013

FaxT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

REZEBRIERAF REEBHRDHR AR 322,870 =
EMEBREERAF ZHNEBRRBRA A 311,786 =
RZZEBHRRBR AT RzEHRABR AT 132,622 133,436
EEELEBRRERAA EEEILEBRRERAR 128,106 128,893
EMNZE RO B R AR 2P ZE R RAR D B IR A A 30,952 31,142
ZIHEBRRBR AR ZIHEBRRBRAA 34,182 34,392
ARZEBRREGRAF ARZEBRRERAF 23,662 23,807
HAth Others 57,853 58,282
1,042,033 409,952

ReEtBUnA koS REDRER
BEAENEEE - HEERERNE
ERB[A/FRE  HRELEEEE
ERANRAZS - EREDRAA
RREBRELELEEMNBENEER
B R R B ey 3R 1T 55 AT (A R BE AT B
KGR ER - WRRIFERNERTE
BFE - EERERKANESH AR
BEBOIRIFFRTSRRECMEE -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.
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20.
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EE (E)
NEBRESREEEIUEGHERRK
MEMSLAVRESE (BEERLER
ERMREREBN—RERE) FR
BenefEa  RiEa \ENHaTHE
ERASBREH T EENFETEE
ERBO% (ZE—=4F : & /)\F A5%
R+ F B0%) R B 78 214 5
FWRERE - BRARSEELBMN
BEREMANEREARI0% (ZF
—=F 10%) - EERA ' RERY
R MEREBHBHEVELREWE
KAEEE EEERA
MEMSEAEEHITSERRSE
EEBEUNEAAERAZRSELE
Az H) P UK (B & REAREE o

el i= R
C ZERE

WEWBARQXAEE£NSF S
634,656,000/ T ([5£37) 28 &
EBT  UWEBRADBEEUREE
kB EMETK -

I
3 =p—

=
=

ME+—A=+—HIFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years (2013: 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2013: 10%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries amounting to HK$634,656,000 (see note 37) is based
on a provisional basis, awaiting the completion of the identification
of separable assets and valuation of assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014

IRE B SRR M A
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BE_ZT-NE+-_A=+—HIFE

KeERE 21. OPERATING RIGHTS
FHT

HK$'000
XA COST
RZE—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2013 325,712
[ 54, ) #& Exchange adjustments 19,027
NE Additions 195,271
i Ny =NS)| Acquisition of subsidiaries 287,022
NR-ZE—=F5+=-A=+—8 At 31st December, 2013 827,032
[ 5, 2 Exchange adjustments (1,721)
INE Additions 67,162
I BB B /B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 249
R_ZE—NF+=-—A=+—H At 31st December, 2014 892,722
ey AMORTISATION
RZZE—=F—H—H At 1st January, 2013 37,227
PE 5 SR Exchange adjustments 2,041
NS R Provided for the year 29,520
RZE—=F+-_HA=+—H At 31st December, 2013 68,788
[ 54, ) #& Exchange adjustments (99)
RE S A Provided for the year 33,464
R-E—mME+=-F=+—H8 At 31st December, 2014 102,153
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE—NF+-_A=1+—H At 31st December, 2014 790,569
R-_BE—=F+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 758,244

WHEBEENEEETAERER
& A AEH10=50F A# Y -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over the

estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-line

basis.

FE 22. INVENTORIES
—E-—mF —ET—=F
2014 2013
FHET T
HK$°’000 HK$’000
EEMR Construction materials 405,590 564,510
R o Finished goods 233,986 227,445
639,576 791,955

EPMRERBBRAF - — T MOFFR
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23. B E 5 RN H it FE UK

150

RE-F-MEL-AS+-BLEE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-lmF —T—=
2014 2013
FHET FHT
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEW B 5 ER K Trade receivables 4,117,085 3,012,930
W REREHE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (161,707) (35,324)
3,955,378 2,977,606
B A &8 (KHisa) Amount due from a joint venturer (Note a) = 524,382
WA &R rRRIE (KizEb) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note b) 525,078 455,202

FEUFEE PR IR B 3508 (MisEc) Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note c) 40,792 76,663

& (Kiskd) Deposits (Note d) 921,857 971,271

Taft R (Fizke) Prepayments (Note e) 1,338,698 1,431,131

H U R Other receivables 216,001 229,529

6,997,804 6,665,784

Mz Notes:

a. RZT—=F+=A=+—H8 " EK At 31st December, 2013, amount due from a joint venturer was
AEBHTIESER  IRFBFEF unsecured, interest bearing at a variable interest rate of 3.3% per
KRIJFHERER—FAEE - annum and repayable within one year.

b. [ FE U & & A A) 72X 738,042,000/ Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$38,042,000
7t (ZZT—=4% 101,751,000 7T ) (2013: HK$101,751,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
BEEE 2N T54EE5.9E (= ranging from 5.4% to 5.9% (2013: 5.4% to 5.9%) per annum and
T —=4F :54FFE59FE) 7EH ¥ repayable in 2015, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free
BFMNRFERER T —RAFHEE and repayable on demand.

Sh o RN ERAEER 2R RER
EREFEE o

c. FEURSEIZR PR AR R kI8 A IEIR - B Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest
RIAREREER - free and repayable on demand.

d. RETERIEINMNFRALEENIR Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, utility and
- KEBRBEERS - rental deposits.

e. BNRFEBREARREBRANEE Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of construction

REM BTN

materials for gas connection contracts.
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23. B E 5 R R H At B 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(%)
REBKRTEEIREHNBRESR /% The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
B30KEIOK o O HIKR REEREME days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net
WE SRR NREI RN ERH of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
(FAERNEZWATERZ B ) HERE DI date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
mE respective revenue recognition date as follows:
—2-HmF —T—=
2014 2013
FTERT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
0— 90Kk 0 - 90 days 3,356,160 2,621,904
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 325,603 40,992
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 194,180 166,272
365K A L Over 365 days 79,435 148,438
3,955,378 2,977,606
RZZE—MF+=A=+—HrEK Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2014 are
ESERBENREHBHABHANH receivables of HK$599,218,000 (2013: HK$355,702,000) which are
JEU AR 599,218,000/ T (=& —= past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
£ : 355,702,000/ 7T) © HAEE A as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
HWERARRSEERES  FHAE of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
WS EE BEEESRE neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
FEWBES N EEBEERIT 0 FAAH history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
TR R A B4R HE R S0 o A E these receivables.
Mz B RYERSF A EAE @
EEHELEFENERE S RRRR Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
—E-lmFE —E—=%F
2014 2013
FTHERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 325,603 40,992
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 194,180 166,272
365K E Over 365 days 79,435 148,438
599,218 355,702
RETEKEZRZSAUEE @ K& In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
BEEEHANEEARAREERY considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
FYHHEEEDEERAFES - A standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
RNAEEHEBEARERE  HWEERBK The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
ERAR @At AQAFEEZARL base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
DEGAMBEREDIEL M RERE directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
Hh - A BITE S B RS o provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts

already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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23. B E 5 R KR H 1 FE UK 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(#&

SEHE Y ERENEWE S RFERR Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
(#) (Continued)

RIERBEBES TEBS AR MESR Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
B3 B & W AR 50 & 2£161,707,0007% impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
7T (ZZF— =4 : 35,324,000/8 7T) ° amount of HK$161,707,000 (2013: HK$35,324,000) which have
ZEEBAEEET EENIEEG either been placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties.
RN - NEBW R Z S EUERR The Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

FAEAERR -

REREEEH Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-—QOF —T—=fF
2014 2013
THExT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
®n—H—H At 1st January 35,324 8,679
(ERREE Exchange adjustments 399 235
EHERREEE Impairment loss recognised 125,984 26,410
Rt+t—A=+—H At 31st December 161,707 35,324

24. B EREFEHNIR 24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

=hH IE
TA-E CONTRACT WORK
—E—mF —T—=F
2014 2013
FE T FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EERE WA INEEZR%H  Contract costs incurred plus profits recognised 2,839,735 1,484,741
B TIREE K Less: Progress billings (8,401,711) (5,799,882)
(5,561,976) (4,315,141)
MERMETHN Analysis for reporting purposes as:
FEWREFAAITIERIE Amounts due from customers for
contract work 1,590,712 903,006
ENEFAHTIERE Amounts due to customers for contract work (7,152,688) (5,218,147)
(5,561,976) (4,315,141)
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6] P 42 AR A 7 K (6] 2 B o
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MR R E A RIREHERAS T
B AEER RESRITRAERS
KB INFE1.95FMZEF R B K
BR-_Z—RERAEE -

EEMRITER

R-ZE—WOE+_A=+—8 ' 17
GHRERBIERBENRARMEERD
ERESERNER - BHERRTE
RETIBFEFEKIBEE2.9E (=F
—=F :04FEE22F) B

ERRRITERTDIAARKEE - A
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TEIEINE LR FEE S X BT BB
Ha ANAY S B Bl 1 49 o

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

25.

26.
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LOANS TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY AND A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Loan to an intermediate holding company is unsecured, carries
fixed interest at 5.06% per annum and repayable in March 2015.

Loan to a fellow subsidiary is denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
unsecured, carries variable interest at HIBOR plus 1.95% per
annum and repayable in May 2015.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 31st December, 2014, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payable to suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank
deposits carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.35% to 2.9%
(20183: 0.4% to 2.2%) per annum.

Pledged bank deposits were denominated in RMB which is not
a freely convertible currency in the international market. The
exchange rate of RMB is regulated by the government and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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27. RITERREE

154
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27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from
nil to 4% (2013: nil to 5.1%) per annum.

(b) Other deposits

Other deposits as at 31st December, 2014 consist of
principal protected deposits issued by banks in the PRC
with expected interest rate of 4.35% to 5.1% (2013: from
4.9% to 5.7%) per annum, depending on the performance
of the underlying share index, money market instruments
and debt instruments invested by the counterparty banks,
payable on maturity where the maturity ranging from 85 to 93
days (2013: from 91 to 101 days) from the date of purchase.
Other deposits are designated at FVTPL on initial recognition
as they contain non-closely related embedded derivatives.
The directors consider the fair values of other deposits as at
31st December, 2014, which are measured by reference to
the discounted cash flow approach as disclosed in note 6(c),
approximate to their principal amounts.

Other deposits as at 31st December, 2014 are redeemed in
January to March 2015. The change in fair value up to the
date of redemption is not significant.

At 31st December, 2014, bank balances and cash of
HK$9,042,741,000 (2013: HK$8,986,177,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The exchange rate of
RMB is regulated by the government and the remittance of
these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC government.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014



fRE I IR M
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

28. ENEZRIAREMENR 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—E-mF —T—=F
2014 2013
TERT FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERTE 5 BRM Trade payables 4,676,332 5,255,802
EREEARRIE (Hia) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 2,123,549 2,248,118
FETIEIE AR AR SR 28 (Mt3Tb)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders (Note b) 49,112 61,995
LG Receipts in advance 3,412,214 1,758,426
BlizE Deposits received 767,417 940,908
BEMX  BER Payables for acquisition of property,
RIBFEN A plant and equipment 318,368 224,656
Ly B A A S ZROR Payables for acquisition of operating rights 22,120 16,343
U B BT A Bl TR B Consideration payable for acquisition of
(H13E37) subsidiaries (note 37) 188,910 62,520
JEETE TR AR Accrued staff costs 747,283 607,959
B EMNREREASER Other payables and accruals 565,971 293,524
12,871,276 11,470,251
M5t - Notes:
a. % A& £01,907,822,000/% T (= & — a. Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$1,907,822,000
= £ :1,890,038,000/% 7T) H fE < (2013: HK$1,890,038,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
AR NTIFIE (ZFEAEEKE -« % ranging from 1.15% to 3.03% (2013: 1.15% to 3.3%) per annum and
N F1.15FEF3.03E (= =& repayable in 2015, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free
1.15 2 £3.3F) #ZBFI XA B RA and repayable on demand.
RZZE—RFEE) I R TERB
AR - BB REANERFEE -
b. EFERRREREREER 28 b.  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
MBEREKEEE - interest-free and repayable on demand.
EREZERNBEHARENEER The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
HAMBRS O 25T - date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—E—mF —E-=F
2014 2013
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
0— 90Kk 0 - 90 days 2,867,924 4,251,392
91 — 180k 91 — 180 days 486,896 343,425
181 — 365K 181 — 365 days 737,045 353,772
365K E Over 365 days 584,467 307,213
4,676,332 5,255,802
BENTHEEHA7TRAEI80K - & The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
SECHIEMBRERERBE - A to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
RNEBEERRNZ NI BAER - place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
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R-_ZE—mMFE+-_A=+—8"
# B) £114,866,000/ T (= &

£ : 100,394,000/ 70) EZ 5+ BIK
REBE RREMNEDR - AEAWE

BHE—ZT-NE+-_A=+—HILtEE

29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

BT At 31st December, 2014, government grants of HK$114,866,000
- = (2013: HK$100,394,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by

WE - BERZBEARESRAE S gas pipelines.

RHEES -

30. RITRHMEE

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of

—T-NF —E—=F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
RITERK Bank loans 9,137,672 8,147,412
HiER Other loans 92,659 42,913
9,230,331 8,190,325
B Secured 318,449 89,956
g Unsecured 8,911,882 8,100,369
9,230,331 8,190,325
REERRITREAMBEE The Group’s bank and other borrowings
AR THRER : are repayable as follows:
—FR Within one year 3,296,513 858,749
ZR—FETEBBME More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 4,103,240 3,131,197
ZHRMEENBRAE More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 1,670,683 4,040,205
ZRAFE More than five years 159,895 160,174
9,230,331 8,190,325
B mBBERM TR —FA Less: Amount due within one year
EI|BAR) K18 shown under current liabilities (3,296,513) (858,749)
FERBEBARN—FE Amount due after one year shown as
B BRI FRIE non-current liabilities 5,933,818 7,331,576
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

REERRTREMEENBGRFTE Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

mF

set out below:

BRI

Effective
interest rate —E—MF —E—=%F
per annum 2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ELMEE Fixed rate borrowings:
KR AREIRITER  Unsecured RMB bank loans 5.6% — 6% 107,749 8,763
IR ARBEMERZ  Unsecured RMB other loans 2.55% 37,334 37,102
A B TRITER Unsecured JPY bank loan 0.65% 159,896 157,467
BEBARKRITER Secured RMB bank loans 5.76% — 8.39% 66,171 55,073
BIEMARKEMER  Secured RMB other loans 6.4% 55,325 =
TEEEBEHLE Total fixed rate borrowings 426,475 258,405
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
R ARERT Unsecured RMB bank loans at
B mEEM margin plus People’s Bank of
FEARRTT China Base Rate
EWFERGT A 57% — 6.46% 106,903 97,037
EIRBABTIRITER - Unsecured HKD bank loans at
REEMBABRIT margin plus HIBOR
REFBEFTE 1.64% — 2.49% 8,500,000 7,800,000
BEBARKERIT Secured RMB bank loans at
B mEEM margin plus People’s Bank of
B A RERTT China Base Rate
ARG A 5.6% — 5.94% 196,953 29,072
BEAAREEM Secured RMB other loans at
B mEEM margin plus People’s Bank of
B ARIRTT China Base Rate
BB RS 9.29% - 11.33% - 5,811
FEEEERE Total floating rate borrowings 8,803,856 7,931,920
Rk Total borrowings 9,230,331 8,190,325
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BEEE
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31. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with
principal amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of
the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest
at 4.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due
on 4th April, 2022. The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry
effective interest rate of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of
HK$275,147,000 (2013: HK$274,450,000) was charged to profit
or loss during the year ended 31st December, 2014.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$786,382,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,133,783,000) (2013: US$738,330,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,725,454,000)), which was
determined based on the closing market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.
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R-EBE—mWE+=-_A=+—HiA
E b R E B &/ FIE A181,700,000
L (Z & — = 4F : 245,405,000/
TL) c BB T BRI L e
RFRBROFETB D - LA RFKIBA
50,618,000/ 7L (Z T — =4 : ) -
BUENB AR NECREL AR =
TR FEE (RMEES7) °

Yo i 4 T B M AR A R R TR N SRR
HEHFIMT

feRARE 32.

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2014 are an
amount of HK$181,700,000 (2013: HK$245,405,000), representing
non-current portion of payables for acquisition of operating rights
for city pipeline network, and an amount of HK$50,618,000 (2013:
nil), representing deferred consideration for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and being repayable in 2016 (see note 37).

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
network are payable as follows:

—Z-NF —E—=F
2014 2013
FET FHT
HK$°000 HK$’000
—F LR Within one year 22,120 16,343
LR —FETHBBAMRF More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 16,806 12,215
ENEERS RS More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 24,463 25,882
ZRAF More than five years 140,431 207,308
203,820 261,748
B ORE A EATRET AR Less: Amount due within one year included
B HIRAR E M ER TR in trade and other payables shown
—FREHHFKIEA under current liabilities (22,120) (16,343)
FERBEBEARN—ER Amount due after one year shown as
B BRI FRIE non-current liabilities 181,700 245,405

ZEREDRFTRESREHE 5
ERMTRERER BTN F102
S0EMBRENRITE (—E—=
£ :3.0&) -

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 3.7% (2013: 3.0%) per annum for terms
ranging from 10 to 50 years.
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33. IEEHIH 33. DEFERRED TAXATION
LNTAAFERNIEFEZEZERER The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
REMBEE (BR) REZS) : recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
RO ERF
K MB Hith B
MEHBERE Withholding =5
Accelerated Fd-¥ tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary L
depreciation rights profits differences Total
THT TR TR TAEL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ—=%—F—H At1stJanuary, 2013 (373,863) (1,348) (60,449) 42,662 (392,998)
B 5 3% Exchange adjustments (11,827) (38) (1,893) 4,415 (9,343)
FR (L) #@ (Charge) credit for the year (16,227) 1,386 (15,678) 15,213 (15,306)
WeEE B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 4,370 (49,050) = = (44,680)
RZE-=F At 31st December, 2013
+-A=1+—-H (397,547) (49,050) (78,020) 62,290 (462,327)
5 % Exchange adjustments 1,331 167 261 631 2,390
FRERE (X)) Credit (charge) for the year 2,536 3,172 (206,319) 32,855 (167,756)
W B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries = = = 1,330 1,330
RZZT—F At 31st December, 2014
+-A=+-H (393,680) (45,711) (284,078) 97,106 (626,363)
BRI E DT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
= ks —T=fF
2014 2013
FET FHBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 127,738 98,630
FEFRIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (754,101) (560,957)
(626,363) (462,327)
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2014, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$381,640,000 (2013: HK$282,779,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses at 31st December, 2014 and 2013 will
expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2014, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$334,731,000 (2013: HK$1,580,520,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

34. SHARE CAPITAL
RGOSR REEE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHT
HK$'000
FPX0. 103 TTHIRR (5 Shares of HK$0.10 each
ETE Authorised:
R-E—=F—HA—H At 1st January, 2013, 31st December,
—E—=F+-A=+—H 2013 and 31st December, 2014
k=F—mN&F+=-A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRAR - Issued and fully paid:
R-E—=F—A—H At 1st January, 2013 2,224,010,871 222,401
RIT{EBE I EM AT (MisE)  Issue of shares upon exercise of
share options (Note) 2,000 -
RZZE—=F+-A=+—HKk At31st December, 2013 and
—E-NMFE+=-/F=+—H 31st December, 2014 2,224,012,871 222,401

M REE-T-—=F+-A=+—H1t
FE - DIRTEESR.06ETTITHE
2,00017 FERRHE - ERITHFRGE
FEFEHEREEETRNERR

FEHAL o

Note: During the year ended 31st December, 2013, 2,000 share options were
exercised at an exercise price of HK$9.06 per share. The new shares
issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares in issue.

EMRRLZRERAT . —F—WEFH 161



fRE SR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

35.

162

L}

PR X MR 5
R=BEAET=A—R  ARAR
WA E R S R A B (R
Bl (EARBURBETHER
UERAEESEEERER -

RBEREFE  ARRBEERN K H
EFEAMNBAEEMEANBR ST
SHRE  YAEENTARBERER
5 EERDEBERNETREEA/L -
i 51 8175 RCHR O AT L PR 61 1R AR A 48
AR QRN SIRA A HE T
A 25% - RIS B R I 1E A
oo RIERBAI TR THEREDN
BREIMER DN RAEE TNFEBAR
AN B BITRA20.5% °

R-ZFB—FF=ZA+RE  ARAAH
HEEEELHER - SRARSIKR
PR IR 0 1F R 42 - AR BN RIFR
BFSEHReREE  $HAHLE
A 5T AR R B R I D B9 AT 1S 3R
H o

RBEE-T—NE+=-A=+—H1t
FE ZREANFHEDHTR19.37
B (ZF— =4 :23.98%87C) @A™
% H £1,905,100 & H (=T — =
F 1 2,268,500/ % 17) o HEZERK
19 #9 BT 15 3% 78 /536,904,0007% 7T (=
T — = 4F : 54,403,000/8 7T) ° FT 18
FEZIEAEASEETESRE
BB CRE  HEARERGEEE
WARKBERARSZ (ERFANE
BAEF) o BRIDAK ANELFTIS FIB 2 K
= %630,003,0008 L (=T — =% :
46,186,000/ 70) 5 ARB R F o &
AR E HAKRIFH49,373,384 (=
T— =4 : 51,278,484) fRf%D ©

BEREZBDAIRNSEREERS
BRI PERR )

I
3 =p—

=
=

ME+—A=+—HIFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme to be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, 1,905,100 (2013:
2,268,500) shares were disposed of by the trustee to the market
at an average price of HK$19.37 (2013: HK$23.98) per share.
The proceeds from disposal of those shares amounted to
HK$36,904,000 (2013: HK$54,403,000). The whole amount of the
proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees
of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as employee benefits during the year. The difference of
HK$30,003,000 (2013: HK$46,186,000) between the cost of the
shares and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. There
are 49,373,384 (2013: 51,278,484) shares held by the trustee at
the end of reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior
to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of
staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st
December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
each person (before 1st June, 2014: HK$1,250 each person) to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by the employees.

At 31st December, 2014 and 2013, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31st December, 2014

(a) In April 2014, the Group acquired 95.95% equity interest
in ZMEBRFKERLF], which is principally engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines

from independent third parties for a cash consideration of
approximately RMB401,425,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$506,177,000). The acquisition is part of the on-going
expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming
the market leader in the downstream city gas industry. The

transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition

method.

R B 5
[ERidrdet ]
(BEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FHT
HK$'000
EWEMB AT A A EEEMENT :  Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
FERBEE Non-current assets 139,868
MENEE Current assets 136,220
MEBAE Current liabilities (70,458)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (3,038)
202,592
EEERE (UREIM) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 404,941
BRERE - Deferred consideration:
—BitARBAEERNEMERMNEER - included in other payables in current liabilities 50,618
— Bt AEMEREE (AR — included in other long-term liabilities
—E—XEXM) (payable in 2016) 50,618
e SEE R AE e Plus: Non-controlling interests 8,201
W EWBEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (202,592)
WHEEENEE (BEEE) Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 311,786
WRENBARNESRESEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
TR in respect of acquisition of the subsidiary:
2R RE Cash consideration paid (404,941)
Ff3iRTTRBEE S Bank balances and cash acquired 62,214
(342,727)
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BE-ZE—NE+-—A=+—HILEE

(#&)

(a) (&)

BEUBEENBENDFERRE
BRI T ERERET  ATER
AoRBETEEAREERAH
MEEMAGEMETK -

REE=_ZT-—MF+=-_A=+—
HBIEFE WENBAREH
REBIRE BB RET A
1% U A.303,000,0005% 7T K i 7
38,000,000/ 7T °

(o) R=Z—MFE+=A ~NEE
e RELH ARY363,648,000
7t (8 & 7 49460,974,0007% 7T)
BEIE = EREEBRE
BERAAT0%M R AR - %A
AIEZEREREREERMRRE
EERER - WEEEIAEER
SEBRREN 5 - BIER
AT TRRITENTISE
BE -FRARSEHEAREEAN
E.E °
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

(b)

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the acquisition
of the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition
revenue of HK$303 million and profit of HK$38 million in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2014, the Group acquired 70% equity interest
in REZEBRKAEMRAG], which is principally engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines
from independent third parties for a cash consideration of
approximately RMB363,648,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$460,974,000). The acquisition is part of the on-going
expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming
the market leader in the downstream city gas industry. The
transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition
method.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

(o) (#) (b) (Continued)
RUWLEE B 5
ERRLE
(BEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FAET
HK$’'000
UM B AR A HRIEEFEWMT :  Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
ERBEE Non-current assets 453,326
MENEE Current assets 84,425
MEBAE Current liabilities (201,817)
FRBEE Non-current liabilities (138,642)
197,292
BEERE (LRSI M) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 322,682
BEEFAREN B B8 E b T Deferred consideration included in other payable
AR ARIER(E in current liabilities 138,292
o SRR AE SR Plus: Non-controlling interests 59,188
B BB EEFRE Less: Net assets acquired (197,292)
WHEEREE (TEE%E) Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 322,870
WHEMBARMRE KRS Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
ZEMEFEIN in respect of acquisition of the subsidiary:
ERBReRE Cash consideration paid (322,682)
FISIRITAE MR ® Bank balances and cash acquired 12,923
(309,759)
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(%)

(b) (&)

BERBEEENABENATFERRE
BEREEREET - UFHER
AoRBTEEAKLABIIEE
KA ER[RETK -

RBE-_ZT-—OF+-_A=1+—
BIEFE  WEHEB QR RS
HAEERA M BRI AWE
BUAZE ]

MET AW EN T —MF—
A—B%K  FRAEBHKA
15 £291.02187%8 7 + M F A A
1 533.81B AL - WiBEEER
EHFARS - BN —FAMK
BEER-_ZT—NF—A—H%x
RASEERBEERNKRAR
EEREERNIEE - MEBERR
RELERTEA o

BE-Z2-—=H+"A=1t—-RALFE

(c) EHERMREARDA ([&£H
EFHEMR)) AAEEREME
27 (PEBFEEER) 25
FH50% ° ix A AR L AT AR
ERGHEUNEIRARSLR
ZHIERE - EARMB I
KM ERRBEFESIEBRR
o _EFSREMIE - T
AEBERENEEGHNE AL
RERRE R_F—=%F—A4
—B - EHEERRRREZSHE
TE o REF - EERRKGRE
FEFRNEHEBRREE
RERBEZEFHPRE - MEA
PR A R B AN S 4R 4 0
BEERREERAEEENE
{E o B - NS AT 422 ) B
BE - WERBERROARE
B 2t EHEBRRKAR
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets and
liabilities.

During the year ended 31st December, 2014, the acquisition
of the subsidiary did not result in inclusion of post-acquisition
revenue or profit in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Had all the acquisitions been completed on 1st January,
2014, the Group’s revenue for the year would have been
HK$29,102 million, and profit for the year would have been
HK$3,381 million. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1st January, 2014, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

(c)

EHEBMRABR AT (“Wuxi CR Gas”) was 50% held by the
Group and 50% by the other joint venturer, a PRC government
related entity. It was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
under the previous standard HKAS 31 as all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions must be approved by
two-third of the members of the board of directors in Wuxi CR
Gas whereby the number of members nominated by the board
of directors by the Group did not meet this requirement. On
1st January, 2013, the shareholders of Wuxi CR Gas signed
a memorandum in which the other shareholder would agree
the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of Wuxi CR Gas, and the other shareholder would
agree the appointment of all senior management of Wuxi CR
Gas nominated by the Group. Accordingly the Group is able
to control the relevant activities on the strategic operating,
investing and financial decisions, at which time, Wuxi CR Gas
became a subsidiary of the Company.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

(c) (#&) (c) (Continued)
FHET
HK$'000
B ESE AR A R & E Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
FaERESEHEEEN Wuxi CR Gas acquired at the date of obtaining
AFERRAT : control are as follows:
ME - BB KEE Property, plant and equipment 1,855,346
TE AR A R IE Prepaid lease payments 65,512
K Operating rights 284,240
i /NG O T Interests in associates 7,844
LSRR S Deposits for operating rights 24,662
FEBORIERS Deposits for prepaid lease payments 1,244
T8 Inventories 60,964
FEWE 5 R 3R I H A 8 R Trade and other receivables 300,194
B E P& TERIE Amounts due from customers for contract works 238,660
EEMIRITFER Pledged bank deposits 21,456
RITHEB KRR S Bank balances and cash 626,918
e B SR R E MR Trade and other payables (656,785)
EREPEHIENRIE Amounts due to customers for contract works (1,106,763)
FETFRIE Taxation payable (105,482)
HinREAEE Other long-term liabilities (80,780)
REFHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (51,868)
1,485,362
Wi G EHMRTEENGER ¢ Results on the acquisition of Wuxi CR Gas:
BEEESERMAATE Fair value of Wuxi CR Gas acquired 1,485,362
LAREERRIMERRTHBE Previously held interest, represented by
FrfsiEs (R A FER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (742,681)
IR (FR A FEET) Non-controlling interests, at fair value (742,681)
I s MR MRS & Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
BEEERAFBEOWN ¢ in respect of acquisition of Wuxi CR Gas:
FISIRITHESB NI & Bank balances and cash acquired 626,918

REBE-_T—=F+_A=1+—HLF
B WENBARBRAKEGE NS
AT AR BE 12 U A2,832,000,0007%
7T R4 F542,000,0007 7T

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the acquisition of

the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue
of HK$2,832 million and profit of HK$542 million in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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(d EBEEEHRIABRAA ([EE
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B (FEBFHEEES) k5
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LR BMRARREE QA -
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RN FT A BRI B 7S R AR R
REESEEEMMRR=P2=
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EHESSRBAZWRERR
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

(d)

BEEEMRRTARAR (“Jining CR Gas”) was 51% held by the
Group and 41% by the other joint venturer, a PRC government
related entity, and 8% by another joint venturer. It was
accounted for as joint venture under HKFRS 11 as all of the
strategic financial and operating decisions that significantly
affect the return of Jining CR Gas must be approved by
two-third of the members of the board of directors in Jining
CR Gas whereby the number of members nominated by the
board of directors by the Group did not meet this requirement.
On 1st July, 2013, the shareholders of Jining CR Gas signed
a memorandum in which the other shareholders would agree
the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of Jining CR Gas, and the other shareholders would
agree the appointment of all senior management of Jining CR
Gas nominated by the Group. Accordingly the Group is able
to control the relevant activities on the strategic operating,
investing and financial decisions, at which time, Jining CR
Gas became a subsidiary of the Company.
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

) (&) (d) (Continued)
FHET
HK$'000
BWEEEEBERR A #HRIEE Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of
REBEREGEHIESE AN Jining CR Gas acquired at the date of obtaining
AFERRAT : control are as follows:
Y% - BEK&E Property, plant and equipment 289,799
TR AR Prepaid lease payments 38,982
R Operating rights 2,782
i /NG O T Interests in associates 2,475
REERRER Interests in joint ventures 18,347
KRS Deposits for operating rights 8,587
RIEFRIBE & Deferred tax assets 7,188
FE Inventories 19,712
EWE 5K &Eﬁﬂ}féuﬂzm Trade and other receivables 348,289
EWREA %) TI2FRE Amounts due from customers for contract works 42,841
AJ Uk el 7 TE Tax recoverable 3,506
RITHEBR KRR S Bank balances and cash 31,865
ENE 5 RS &ﬁ’rlﬂﬁ’iﬁm Trade and other payables (76,542)
ENREA4 T2 Amounts due to customers for contract works (147,079)
590,752
WEgEEEERRATEENLGE Results on the acquisition of Jining CR Gas:
EEEEEHRRATE Fair value of Jining CR Gas acquired 590,752
PURAEE RN aMERKRTE Previously held interest, represented by
BEFFER (RATER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (301,283)
TR (B ATEE) Non-controlling interests, at fair value (289,469)
W EZEEBRANES KA Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
FERAFEDN in respect of acquisition of Jining CR Gas:
FisRITESRRES Bank balances and cash acquired 31,865

RBE-_T—=F+=-RA=+—H
EFE BWEMNBAREHRASE

B4 A B %R e A UE & kA
343,000,0007% T X % 456,000,000
PETT ©

170 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the acquisition of
the subsidiaries resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition revenue
of HK$343 million and profit of HK$56 million in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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B5EK » FAREEHKRAEA
229.06187 7T + M E WA A
29.27{8 Tt o ILBEE B KHEH
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38. WEHEY
AEBERERA

RB|EHR  AEBEETATHBEEE
HOAE  ZERENRKKEERS
R

For the year ended 31st December, 2014
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2013,
the Group’s revenue for the year would have been HK$22,906
million, and profit for the year would have been HK$2,927
million. The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes
only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st
January, 2013, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

38. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

—E-lmF —E—=F

2014 2013

FE T FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

—FR Within one year 46,833 31,574
F_FEFRF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BREERMFEEAN) 123,963 24,206

HF1% After five years 53,794 13,950

224,590 69,730

BERHNRDEREERPRE
WMEMENERES - HANER R
BEfHeTHAR—ZE+FH (2T —
=F: —EFFH) -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals
are fixed for term ranging from one to ten years (2013: one to ten
years).
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38. K&EMN (&) 38. OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
AEBEELSHBEA The Group as lessor
RIPEF  AEEEAMAAD Y At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with

TR HEHRETEL - RRPAA

lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

RIEEZOZEEMT

—E—QmE —E—=F

2014 2013

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 20,742 2,514

F_FZERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BREEEMEEAN) 20,473 4,873

hFE After five years 1,554 1,954

42,769 9,341

FRERLBEREMFEEBSIT L — The investment properties rented during the year have committed

E+—_EFEH(ZE—=F: —F+= tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2013: one to

FH) ML - MER FlgEERY twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
LZHHER AT S L HE - operating lease arrangements.
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39. &iE 39. COMMITMENTS
—E-0mF —F—=
2014 2013
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
MUATEEDITHER Capital expenditure contracted for but not
RAEBIEHRER T provided in the Group’s financial statements
BEMNERAE : in respect of:
BEVE  BERSEE Acquisition of property, plant and
AR HEEKIEA equipment/prepaid lease payments 243,231 843,896
IEELERE Acquisition of operating rights - 25,438
=& (Kizka) Investments (Note a) 741,443 1,022,911
984,674 1,892,245
BUATSEDROEERETH Capital expenditure authorised but not
MEARRY : contracted for in respect of:
BEVE  BERSEE Acquisition of property, plant and
B EIE equipment/prepaid lease payments 328,959 60,767
%& (Mizkb) Investments (Note b) - 595,440
328,959 656,207
AEBEEHEEMEEBHE The Group’s share of the capital commitments
HEEHEESE QT made jointly with other joint venturers
BRENERFEENT : relating to its joint ventures are as follows:
BEDE  BELEE Acquisition of property, plant and
FERBEREA equipment/prepaid lease payments 257,928 44,581
B3 Note:
a. AEBWEBIE=FEILETHE a.  The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
RERBIKILEFRPINEGERE - parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the
PRC.
b. ZAKEERBEFBKIETRPIINEG b.  The Group authorised to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture
EhE - enterprises in the PRC.

40. T EFBHERF 40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
REE_ZT—=F+-_A=+—H1L During the year ended 31st December, 2013, Wuxi CR Gas and
FE - EHEBMRIREZEBRA Jining CR Gas became the subsidiaries of the Group whereby
RAREENE AR - miE s8R LA control was obtained from the other joint venturers without
TREBEMEGERERS (R consideration (see notes 37(c) and 37(d)).

37(c) &37(d)) °
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41. EEEK T

R-ZE—MF+-A=+—H  £5%H
EERTINEEERRITEE REMNT
RARBIEE RN B SRR

41.

BE-F-ME+-A=t-ALEE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st December, 2014, the Group pledged the following assets
as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers
of natural gas as follows:

—T-NF —E—=F
2014 2013
FE T FHBT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
ME - BB NEE Property, plant and equipment 40,608 6,223
B E 5 5/18 Trade receivables - 26,314
B IFRITFR Pledged bank deposits 65,986 219,149
FENHERIE Prepaid lease payments 22,261 =
128,855 251,686
42. BEALTHE 42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
HEEALTHNRS Transactions with related parties
BrAERAKT SEFTE AR A TR BN - In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
REEBRFEANERBEATETIIE notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions
ARG - with related parties during the year:
—T-NF —E—=F
2014 2013
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HETAE AR Sales to joint ventures 841,064 588,563
HE FHE QA Sales to associates 48,580 74,726
HETRREMMBEAR Sales to fellow subsidiaries 9,956 =
HE THEARA Sales to non-controlling shareholders
FEFERRAR R of subsidiaries - 37,689
M) R R AR A R 3R R EY Interest income from loan to an intermediately
B F B MA holding company 51,603 =
) A 2B BB A AR AR A Interest income from loan to a
BEF B MA fellow subsidiary 7,695 =
N EEIIEPNGIE RG] Interest income from deposits placed in
FRF B A a fellow subsidiary 20,396 34,970
REEE TR BWA Interest income from a joint venturer 5,094 15,575
KEEE QAT EWA Interest income from joint ventures 2,945 3,829
BEEEAA Purchase from joint ventures 66,700 4,932
EEMEA RN Purchase from non-controlling shareholders
FEFEARAL R of subsidiaries 799,315 630,383
ENBEERMBATF B Interest expenses paid to a fellow subsidiary - 19,378
BEftE&EQFMFERY Interest expenses paid to joint ventures 38,036 32,022
ERRRMHBATNHELES  Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 3,675 1,303
ENAEQARNELHY Rental expenses paid to a joint venture 4,481 5,572
EARLCIEPNGIE R 2 84y Rental expenses paid to non-controlling
e shareholders of subsidiaries 3,773 83
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R-ZE—WmE+=-A=+—H" &«
SERR XK ER ARG EBRT
BRHBERRAREFEARITREMFR
947,513,000% T (= T — = F:
1,929,367,000/8 L) * Z HRI1T1F
STARITEHRRIRS -

HEMAEEHERNRS &t

AREE B 5 ST BEBUTES M HEE
HETRAKERARMN—&D » MA
S B AT AR BIBUF S| - R
HRENBEATLENINEBRENE

R -

BRESARALEMBARNRZS (B
R &R & B TS R B9 LA B E R
S AN 55 B % B rh B R B R Sk PR R
2] HEESREMERTZE D
EREARERBBIETETES &
FBERBORTERRAEME K
A BETRITREMEE A RABEN
TERAR ~ REBIDERAE R BB MARIHE -

IRE B SRR M A
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2014 BE_Z—NF+-_A=+—HILFE

42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

At 31st December, 2014, the Group placed bank and other
deposits of HK$947,513,000 (2013: HK$1,929,367,000) with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary and these
deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRNC
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank deposits
and the corresponding interest income, certain bank and other
borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large portion of
purchases and part of sales of gas.

TEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-OF —E—=F
2014 2013
FTHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
EHATEF Short-term benefits 66,737 80,454
BRIKB BT Post-employment benefits 1,598 1,479
68,335 81,933
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-mF —T—=F
2014 2013
FET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EREEE Non-current assets
ME - BB MERE Property, plant and equipment 1,162 1,119
RHTB AR A EHIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,027,899 12,357,073
FEULHT B~ R RIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 14,360,687 14,867,331
mME A FRENER Loan to a subsidiary 1,858,724 818,940
29,248,472 28,044,463
B EE Current assets
H At EUK Other receivables 56,187 49,392
AR IENGIE ] Amounts due from subsidiaries 149,904 293,186
MR RZKTB A RRENER Loan to a fellow subsidiary 707,695 -
IRITHEB RIS Bank balances and cash 849,974 759,535
1,763,760 1,102,113
MEBAE Current liabilities
Ht AR R ETER Other payables and accrued charges 222,949 154,212
FEIH B A R FRIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 152,365 39,916
[ SPEER/NEIE =0l = /N Loan from a subsidiary 773,767 =
BITEE Bank borrowings 3,000,000 800,000
4,149,081 994,128
wE) (AE) BEFE Net current (liabilities) assets (2,385,321) 107,985
26,863,151 28,152,448
BN E Capital and reserves
R A Share capital 222,401 222,401
S (BIEE) Reserves (Note) 15,441,927 15,246,093
15,664,328 15,468,494
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITEE Bank borrowings 5,500,000 7,000,000
BREE Senior notes 5,698,823 5,683,954
11,198,823 12,683,954
26,863,151 28,152,448
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BE_ZT-NE+-_A=+—HIFE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

@ Reserves

REBE

BEZRB

BRE Shares

&% held for

19518 BABE Share incentive
Share  Contributed option award Htg* A&t
premium surplus reserve scheme Others* Total
FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT FHT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M-Z—=%F—H—H At 1stJanuary, 2013 6,378,643 7,388,600 13,436 (194,330) 991,370 14,577,719

F A K Profit and total comprehensive
2EBALE income for the year - - - 962,325 962,325
RS H Expiry of share options = = (13,436) = 13,436 _
& AR 2 Disposal of shares held for
REHRG incentive award scheme = = - 8,217 46,186 54,403
BB A Dividends paid - - - (348,354)  (348,354)
RZE—=F At 31st December, 2013
+=-A=+—8 6,378,643 7,388,600 - (186,113) 1,664,963 15,246,093
F AR Profit and total comprehensive
ESEL Nt income for the year - - - - 702,114 702,114
& BRI 2 Disposal of shares held for
FABRG incentive award scheme = = 6,901 30,003 36,904
BT Dividends paid - - - - (543,184) (543,184)
RZT—mE At 31st December, 2014

+=F=+-8 6,378,643 7,388,600 (179,212) 1,853,896 15,441,927

* H A58 5 i R R B A o

44. FEHEERREE

R-TE—FRE=ZANE  AEFESF
ERREBARAR (ATPEEEN
ARBERIHBEBLE  FEHRE
BIEREERMRE EERER) 5]
VEERE AEEBEBYEEEE
MEFEME AR EE AR KE.13B T
WESSEFENRRERD A K49%
i - BERBERSINFRBEENA
ATEHA-Z—AE=ANLBENA
Ho RAHREAH  RBRS KT

B o

Others represent translation reserve and retained profits.

44. EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 9th March, 2015, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with
Qingdao Energy Group Limited, a state-owned enterprise established in
Qingdao Municipal People’s Government of the PRC principally engaged
in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines. The Group
will acquire a 49% equity interest in Qingdao Energy Gas Limited by
contributing to the proposed increase in its registered capital by an amount
of RMB613 million. Details of the transaction are disclosed on the Company’s
announcement dated 9th March, 2015. The transaction is not yet completed
as at the date of this report.
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ARER
Name of company

BE-F-ME+-A=t-ALEE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries

EMERL

FR L i 2
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

period are set out below.

ERITRAR
R,/ ERRA
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

rEBELRE
Attributable
equity interest
of the Group
ZE-ME —FT-=F

TEXK
Principal activities

2014 2013
% %
EEMRERAR RERAHS TimAiR4ZETT 100 100 HREEK
China Resources Gas British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Limited Islands
AEI China Gas Limited REiS E3EAR1,000% 7T 100 100 REZER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
HREERRERAE Y AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HERMLR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
BMNEEMRRER AR H 15,000,000 7T 70 70 HEREEREE@SI
PRC USD15,000,000 EiE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGEHRRRRAR"? FE 16,000,0005 7T 50 50 HERCRRERER
PRC USD16,000,000 EiE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BREERRERRA R H B 4,000,000% 7T 100 100  HER(AREBRHR
PRC USD4,000,000 BB

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED -

Annual Report 2014
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45. TEMBARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Bl ERITRAR
B B B EMBRA AER B AL AR
Place of Issued and Attributable
NG incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
TE-NFE —T=F
2014 2013
% %
ELERRRARRA HE 11,000,000 7T 57.11 5711 HEREREEESR
PRC USD11,000,000 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ARZEBRRAERR A HE AK#81,500,0007T 75 75 HERELIREE&R
PRC RMB81,500,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
GRERRRERAF! HE AR #50,000,0007C 75 75 HERIECAREE@S
PRC RMB50,000,000 EE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR)! HE AK#70,000,0007T 71.43 7143  HERIEARESEI
PRC RMB70,000,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
HRAERRRERAAR FE A#10,000,0007T 100 100  HERCRARER&R
PRC RMB10,000,000 Bl

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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45. TEHEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
Bt ERITRAR
B B B3/ EMRA RE B IRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NGIES incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-NFE —_T=F
2014 2013
% %
BELERREARRF H AR #10,000,0007C 100 100  HERECEREEHSR
PRC RMB10,000,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REERRRERAR HE AR#51,300,0007T 51 51  HERLRIERBR
PRC RMB51,300,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BEEBREERAR' Gile: 7,788,900 7 100 100 HEREAREREBR
PRC US$7,788,900 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
FrERRRERAR) H AR #29,890,6007C 51 51  HEREREEEGR
PRC RMB29,890,600 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BENE R R AR AR H AR #80,000,0007C 70 70 WHERLERER&GR
PRC RMB80,000,000 BiE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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MEARN—RER (&)

MR
FR 3t 2
Place of
NEEB
Name of company

incorporation/
establishment

T e PSR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

S
HE—=

F+-A=+—BLFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

ERTRAR
Rz, ERRA
Issued and

fully paid share/
registered capital

rEBELRE
Attributable

equity interest
of the Group

TEEH

Principal activities

—E-mE —T—=F
2014 2013
% %

AREERRER AT R
PRC

ERUMEEERAERAT  HE
PRC

BMEBRRRHBRA RS Rl

PRC

HRTEEERRARAR R
PRC

AR#5,000,0007C 100 100  HEREREREESR
RMB5,000,000 B8
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

AR#50,000,0007T 100 100 $HER(ERRERBR
RMB50,000,000 e
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

AE#680,000,0007T 88 88
RMBG680,000,000

HERARBENEFIR
1 B MR SRR bt B g i
MREE

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and gas
appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines

AR#667,000,0007T 70 70 HERERREE@GR
RMB667,000,000 BB
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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45. TEHEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
FMERL ERITRAR
B B W13 MR A REE AL R
Place of Issued and Attributable
NG incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
TE-NFE —T=F
2014 2013
% %
EHEERIERAR"C H 29,980,000 7T 50 50 HERELEREEHSR
PRC USD29,980,000 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BEEERRARRAS HE AR#286,582,8587T 51 51 HERELREEREE®SR
PRC RMB286,582,858 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ERERRIRERRR H AR#227,180,0007T 64 64 HERELIEREEGSR
PRC RMB227,180,000 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ZMNERRRERAR) G AR#7,904,0007T 95.95 TMER HERLRRERBR
PRC RMB7,904,000 N/A BE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
REERRRERRA) H AK#55,000,0007T 70 TER HERCAREE®SR
PRC RMB55,000,000 N/A Bl

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

3 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

4 The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares profit
at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

5 The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock limited
company and its H shares were listed on the Stock Exchange until
14th February, 2012.

6 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group signed a
memorandum in which the other shareholder would agree the Group’s
decisions on operating, investing and financing activities of the
subsidiary, and the other shareholder would agree the appointment
of all senior management nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the
company is regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2014 and 2013 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

BWEETE non-controlling interests
TRINTEEEREERERNAE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
EF2EMBARE : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
BEREZER
RIBER FERES T
TEEEBE SRl
Place of Proportion of PEFFERER
establishment ownership interests HERA (&8) ZitFERES
and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
HELRER place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
ZE-mF  -—Z-=F ZB-RF —2-=Ff CZEBE-@OF <—Z-=F%
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
% % TER TR TERT TET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
HEMEBREERAR HE
PRC 30 30 30,809 35,915 107,061 110,717
EEERRABRAR HE
PRC 50 50 12,084 8,472 122,104 119,864
EGERRRERAR HE
PRC 28.57 28.57 46,609 44,507 87,665 85,107
REZBMRIERLA HE
PRC 49 49 45,094 40,761 169,783 168,447
ARIEERRRERAR HE
PRC 30 30 40,221 23,482 296,916 279,191
EHERRRERAR HE
PRC 50 50 314,250 270,877 763,873 693,323
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests (Continued)

BEREZR
FERES T
SRS
Proportion of
ownership interests

PEFERERS
HER (B8)

Rt FERE R

and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
HELRER place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
—E2-mF —Z-=F ZB-RE -2-=Ff CZE-OF -—Z-=F%
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
% % TR TERT TER TERT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FELERRRAERAT HE
PRC 42.89 42.89 28,491 21,309 108,428 76,765
REBRRERAR HE
PRC 45 45 (3,067) (2,080) 156,443 160,024
BRMERME (VE) BRAR
PRC 50 50 9,280 2,224 198,523 189,478
BMERRRERAR HE
PRC 20 20 124,793 112,899 413,451 359,529
ZHERRRERAR HE
PRC 35 35 46,675 29,223 193,961 159,520
REHERRIAERAR HiE
PRC 35 35 (34,852) 20,773 149,177 183,753
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

AEE (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
BHEERER
B 3 K FRRERE
TEEEBE SRS
Place of Proportion of PEFFERER
establishment ownership interests #aA (FE) Rt EERER
and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
HELRER place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
—E2-mF —Z-=F ZB-RE -2-=Ff CZE-OF -—Z-=F%
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
% % THERT TERT TER TERT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEERRRERAT HE
PRC 49 49 52,945 27,085 280,111 274,587
ERERRRERAR HE
PRC 36 36 3,261 10,936 111,522 134,375
B SRR R A0 {8 5
FERMBAA
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,807,250 1,438,223
4,966,268 4,432,903
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

46. T EGE NI EH 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
AEEELRE
BRIy Attributable
ARER Place of N equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—2-QmE —FT-=F
2014 2013
% %
A TIRRAREE LA i AR#800,000,0007T 36 36 HERLRRERER
PRC RMB800,000,000 B8

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BMNERRERRERAR F AR117,939,5007T 40 40 HERERREEER
PRC RMB117,939,500 BB

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BIEEMRERAE e AK#150,000,0007T 51 51 MERLARESEHT
PRC RMB 150,000,000 &8

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
HEEBRRARAF i AR194,541,0007 51 51 BERERRERER
PRC RMB194,541,000 BB

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EMZERRRERAR i A& #1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERILARERBR
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 BB

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE-T—WF+-A=+—HIFE

46. TESERNREHR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)
REBEERE
Rz Attributable
AR EH Place of A RA equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-MFE —T-=F
2014 2013
% %
EHRRERAF I AE#200,000,0007C 50 50 HERIRRERGR
PRC RMB200,000,000 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
NIEBRRERAA F Rl AR #129,068,8007C 51 50 HERIRRERGR
PRC RMB129,068,800 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BILEERTRAFRAR HE AK#148,000,0007C 49.9 49.9 HERIRRERGR
PRC RMB148,000,000 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
mEEEEMARNBRAR T AE#E122,423,3727T 50 50 HERILREERBR
PRC RMB122,423,372 BB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RILAARRERATF HEl AR #164,444,4007C 55 55 HERLRRESHR
PRC RMB164,444,400 EiE

192 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2014
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014 HE—ZFT—WF+_A=+—HIFE

46. TESERNREHR (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)
REBEGRE
ALt Attributable
NEER Place of AR equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-mFE —T-—=F
2014 2013
% %
HETRRARAF HE AR 100,000,000 49 49 HERLRRESHR
PRC RMB100,000,000 EiE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BNERRRARAT HE AR #%488,376,0007C 49 49 BEERLEREEER
PRC RMB488,376,000 BE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EREBRRARAA FE AEK#5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERERRETBER
PRC RMBS5,000,000,000 EiE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
MR EBEBHAREITERER K The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
BEBHO—BRAE  WAEEAH which the decisions about the relevant activities require the
ZENRIITIE LRI HI4E o Ut - 5% unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
ERRWRAREENEGELRT] Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.
ARAEERAE  ERAVINAEER The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
BEARHAEEFANEEEEA opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
HESIBAAEEEEFEEAN results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
Mo RARREERA  HIHMEE of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
ANAINFBES A REBRILE © opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2014

47. T EBHE N TFFHIE

#zs —
BE—=

ME+—A=+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

BEAR/
WEARRENREER AEBEGRE
B % Equity interest Attributable
AR AR Place of HEfEX held by the joint interest equity TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
“E-OF —T-=F ZB-NF —T-=F%
2014 2013 2014 2013
% % % %
FRLIREEREERA  HHE AR #95,590,0007T 27 27 25.92 2592  HERAR  RitA
PRC RMB95,590,000 BREMRARE
EMREB
Sale of natural gas,
LPG and gas
appliances and
construction gas
pipelines
BEERREERN Sl AR 1,556,000,0007T 22.49 25 22.49 25 HERCERERE
BRAR PRC RMB1,556,000,000 REB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
BRI HE AR #40,000,0007T 49 49 24.5 245  HERICERERE
ERMEAERAR PRC RMB40,000,000 REB
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
EERALER HE AK#40,000,0007C 36 36 36 3% HERCARESSH
ERERMERERAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 REE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
TARAREZ HE AR #30,000,0007T 49 49 49 49 HERARREE®
BRAR PRC RMB30,000,000 REE
Sales of natural gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
* FAN - ZRBZRNER EBEFR * During the year, the company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock
SR ET © Exchange.

RRAREFRS  ERMIINAKEHE
BENRHARENEAREERR
BEEAXE ARAEFARS  #H
SR E R B MFHIER S ARG B

TN

RITE °
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The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
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Financial Summary

S RESULTS
BET-_A=t-BILFE
Year ended 31st December,
—T-TF —T——F —T--F = —Z-QNF
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
THL THAL THAT FHAT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
3 TURNOVER 9,705,327 14,208,046 13,621,787 22,288,027 28,717,025
FREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,021,359 1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754 3,350,859
PG ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
EAUNGIE DN OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 773,202 1,176,268 1,645,543 2,160,945 2,481,628
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 248,157 396,133 383,741 662,809 869,231
1,021,359 1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754 3,350,859
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+-A=1+—-H
31st December,
—T-TF —T——F —E-——fF —T-=fF —E-NE
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
THL TAL TR FTHT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEM4E TOTAL ASSETS 23,586,189 24,844 175 37,682,535 50,481,791 57,517,037
aEAE TOTAL LIABILITIES (14,347,150) (13,040,466) (22,996,545) (31,865,953) (36,485,671)
RAME TOTAL EQUITY 9,239,039 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,031,366
RATEEBA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO 7,048,196 9,318,659 11,698,852 14,182,935 16,065,098
PR A OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 2,190,843 2,485,050 2,987,138 4,432,903 4,966,268
RAEE TOTAL EQUITY 9,239,039 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838 21,031,366
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 20th February, 2014)
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. DU Wenmin

Mr. WEI Bin

Mr. HUANG Daoguo (retired on 13th August, 2014)
Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WANG Yan (appointed on 13th August, 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. QIN Chaokui

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. HUANG Daoguo (retired on 13th August, 2014)
Mr. WANG Yan (appointed on 13th August, 2014)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. YU Hon To, David

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

Mr. QIN Chaokui

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WEI Bin (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Chuandong
Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
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TEEREZERS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TRt (FE)

Ms. YU Jian (Chairman)

AEEEE Mr. SHI Shanbo
ERBIERE Mr. ONG Thiam Kin
=5EBEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing
AR A Mr. QIN Chaokui

DREME
TR

AR ERE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12

Bermuda Bermuda

FTEZEEME, PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

B Room 1901-02

L China Resources Building

2 E 265 26 Harbour Road

EHKE Wanchai

1901-02% Hong Kong

EERER LEGAL ADVISOR

A ERTT Richards Butler

BIEEEmTT in association with Reed Smith LLP

% EED AUDITOR

=g e ER 2 5HADTT Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

FTERPBFETLE PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

The Belvedere Building The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road 69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08 Pembroke HM08

Bermuda Bermuda

EEROBEERESTE HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

BEMERNBERAA Tricor Secretaries Limited

i Level 22, Hopewell Centre

2EREF1835 183 Queen’s Road East

& FFL2218 Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

BB BB EE265  Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
R AE1901-02% 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

&5 Telephone : 2593 8200
B H Facsimile : 2598 8228
#84F Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B I Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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